The complement of the open orbit for tame quivers

Inauguraldissertation der Philosophisch-naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Bern

vorgelegt von

Andrea Michel

von Bönigen BE

Leiterin der Arbeit: Prof. Dr. Ch. Riedtmann Mathematisches Institut

Originaldokument gespeichert auf dem Webserver der Universitätsbibliothek Bern



Dieses Werk ist unter einem Creative Commons Namensnennung-Keine kommerzielle Nutzung-Keine Bearbeitung 2.5 Schweiz Lizenzvertrag lizenziert. Um die Lizenz anzusehen, gehen Sie bitte zu <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.5/ch/</u> oder schicken Sie einen Brief an Creative Commons, 171 Second Street, Suite 300, San Francisco, California 94105, USA.

The complement of the open orbit for tame quivers

Inauguraldissertation der Philosophisch-naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Bern

vorgelegt von

Andrea Michel

von Bönigen BE

Leiterin der Arbeit: Prof. Dr. Ch. Riedtmann Mathematisches Institut

Von der Philosophisch-naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät angenommen.

Bern, 25. Oktober 2016

Der Dekan: Prof. Dr. G. Colangelo

Urheberrechtlicher Hinweis

Dieses Dokument steht unter einer Lizenz der Creative Commons Namensnennung-Keine kommerzielle Nutzung-Keine Bearbeitung 2.5 Schweiz. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.5/ch/

Sie dürfen:

dieses Werk vervielfältigen, verbreiten und öffentlich zugänglich machen

Zu den folgenden Bedingungen:

Namensnennung. Sie müssen den Namen des Autors/Rechteinhabers in der von ihm festgelegten Weise nennen (wodurch aber nicht der Eindruck entstehen darf, Sie oder die Nutzung des Werkes durch Sie würden entlohnt).

Keine kommerzielle Nutzung. Dieses Werk darf nicht für kommerzielle Zwecke verwendet werden.

Keine Bearbeitung. Dieses Werk darf nicht bearbeitet oder in anderer Weise verändert werden.

Im Falle einer Verbreitung müssen Sie anderen die Lizenzbedingungen, unter welche dieses Werk fällt, mitteilen.

Jede der vorgenannten Bedingungen kann aufgehoben werden, sofern Sie die Einwilligung des Rechteinhabers dazu erhalten.

Diese Lizenz lässt die Urheberpersönlichkeitsrechte nach Schweizer Recht unberührt.

Eine ausführliche Fassung des Lizenzvertrags befindet sich unter http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.5/ch/legalcode.de

Contents

| 1 | Preface | | | | |
|---|------------|---|----------|--|--|
| 2 | Intr | roduction | 5 | | |
| | 2.1 | Representations of quivers | 5 | | |
| | | 2.1.1 Basic definitions | 5 | | |
| | | 2.1.2 Dynkin and extended Dynkin quivers | 9 | | |
| | | 2.1.3 Reflection functors | 11 | | |
| | | 2.1.4 Extension groups | 13 | | |
| | | 2.1.5 The Auslander-Reiten quiver | 14 | | |
| | 2.2 | Geometry of representations | 16 | | |
| | | 2.2.1 The representation space | 16 | | |
| | | 2.2.2 The open orbit and its complement | 17 | | |
| 9 | The | a complement of the energy on hit for toma quivers | 10 | | |
| ა | 2 1 ne | Interdention | 10 | | |
| | 3.1 9.9 | | 19 | | |
| | 3.2 | Notations and Preliminaries | | | |
| | 3.3 | The equioriented Dynkin quiver of type \mathbb{A}_n | | | |
| | 3.4 | The inclusion $\mathcal{W}_i \subseteq \mathcal{E}_i$ | | | |
| | 3.5 | 5 Reflections | | | |
| | | 3.5.1 Reflection at a sink | 32 | | |
| | | 3.5.2 Reflection at a source | 33 | | |
| | 3.6 | Perpendicular Categories | 33 | | |
| | | 3.6.1 Cutting out a sink | 33 | | |
| | | 3.6.2 Cutting out a source | 36 | | |
| | 3.7 | Proof of the Theorem | 37 | | |
| | | 3.7.1 Basic special cases | 39 | | |
| | | 3.7.2 The Dynkin case | 40 | | |
| | | 3.7.3 The general case | 41 | | |

4 Example

1 Preface

In this thesis we present some results about the complement of the open orbit for a special kind of quivers, called tame quivers. It is organized as follows:

The main part of the thesis is Chapter 3, which is self-contained and will be published. The Main Theorem as well as its proof are presented there.

Chapter 2 shall serve the reader as a preparation for Chapter 3 by introducing the subject. In section 2.1 we give a short introduction to (some aspects of) the representation theory of quivers. Of course, this introduction is not intended to be self-contained or complete. However, it contains basic definitions and well-known statements which will be used later on. For more detailed information, the reader is referred to [1] and [16]. In particular, we explain the notion of tame quivers and introduce the definition of reflection functors, which play a key role in the proof of our result. In section 2.2 we deal with the geometric aspects of the topic. In particular, we present the former results of A. Schofield and Ch. Riedtmann, who studied the complement of the open orbit in [12]. In Chapter 4 we apply our result to an example.

Acknowledgments:

I would like to thank Professor Christine Riedtmann for giving me the opportunity to write this thesis under her supervision and for her valuable support, advice and guidance during the past years. Moreover, I am grateful to the Swiss National Science Foundation for financial support.

2 Introduction

Throughout this chapter, we fix an algebraically closed field k.

2.1 Representations of quivers

2.1.1 Basic definitions

A quiver Q is an oriented graph, i.e. consists of a set Q_0 of vertices and a set Q_1 of arrows. Unless otherwise specified we will always assume that Q is finite, i.e. the sets Q_0 and Q_1 are finite and we identify $Q_0 = \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

Example 2.1.



For an arrow $\alpha \in Q_1$ we denote by $t\alpha$ and $h\alpha$ the **tail** and the **head** of α , respectively. A vertex of Q which is the head of some arrows but the tail of none is called a **sink** and a vertex which is the tail of some arrows but the head of none is called a **source**. A **path** of length $l \ge 1$ is a sequence $\pi = \alpha_l \cdots \alpha_1$ of l arrows $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_l \in Q_1$ such that $h\alpha_i = t\alpha_{i+1}$ for $i = 1, \ldots l - 1$. Moreover, for each vertex $a \in Q_0$ there is a path ϵ_a of length zero, the **trivial path**. A non-trivial path is called an **oriented cycle** if $h\alpha_l = t\alpha_1$ and a quiver is called **acyclic** if it does not contain oriented cycles. Furthermore, a quiver is called **connected** if its underlying non-oriented graph is connected.

A representation X of a quiver Q (over k) is a family $\{X(a): a \in Q_0\}$ of finite dimensional k-vector spaces together with a family $\{X(\alpha): X(t\alpha) \longrightarrow X(h\alpha): \alpha \in Q_1\}$ of k-linear maps.

Example 2.2.

$$Q = \underbrace{\cdot}_{1} \underbrace{\cdots}_{2} \underbrace{\cdots}_{3} X = k \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}}_{k^{2}} \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}}_{k^{2}} k$$

A morphism $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ between two representations X and Y of Q is a family

$$\{f(a): X(a) \longrightarrow Y(a): a \in Q_0\}$$

of k-linear maps such that the diagram



commutes for all $\alpha \in Q_1$. We denote the finite dimensional k-vector space of morphisms from X to Y by Hom(X, Y). A homomorphism $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ is an **isomorphism** if for every vertex $a \in Q_0$ the map $f(a): X(a) \longrightarrow Y(a)$ is bijective, i.e. is an isomorphism of vector spaces. In this case X and Y are **isomorphic** and we write $X \cong Y$. The category of representations of Q is denoted by mod Q.

For two representations X and Y of Q we define the **direct sum** $X \oplus Y$ as the representation given by $(X \oplus Y)(a) = X(a) \oplus Y(a)$ for $a \in Q_0$ and

$$(X \oplus Y)(\alpha) = \begin{pmatrix} X(\alpha) & 0\\ 0 & Y(\alpha) \end{pmatrix}$$

for $\alpha \in Q_1$. A representation $X \neq 0$ is called **decomposable** if X is the direct sum of two non-zero representations, otherwise it is called **indecomposable**.

Example 2.3. The representation X of Example 2.2 is decomposable as it is the direct sum of the two representations

$$X_1 = k \xleftarrow{1}{\longleftarrow} k \xrightarrow{0}{\longrightarrow} 0$$
 and $X_2 = 0 \xleftarrow{0}{\longleftarrow} k \xrightarrow{1}{\longrightarrow} k$

According to the **Theorem of Krull-Schmidt** any representation $X \neq 0$ is isomorphic to a direct sum of indecomposable representations X_1, \ldots, X_r and these representations are unique up to isomorphism and permutation.

A representation X is a **subrepresentation** of Y if X(a) is a linear subspace of Y(a) for all $a \in Q_0$ and $X(\alpha)$ is the restriction of $Y(\alpha)$ to $X(t\alpha)$ for all $\alpha \in Q_1$. Moreover, a subrepresentation X of Y is a **direct summand** of Y if there is a subrepresentation Z of Y such that $Y \cong X \oplus Z$. Note that not every subrepresentation X of Y is a direct summand of Y:

Example 2.4. Let Q be the quiver



and let X and Y be the representations

$$X = 0 \xrightarrow{0} k$$
 and $Y = k \xrightarrow{1} k$

Clearly, X is a subrepresentation but not a direct summand of Y.

A representation $X \neq 0$ of a quiver Q is called **simple** if its only subrepresentations are the zero representation and X itself. For a vertex $a \in Q_0$ we denote by S(a) the representation given by

$$S(a)(b) = \begin{cases} k, & \text{if } b = a, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and $S(a)(\alpha) = 0$ for all $\alpha \in Q_1$. Clearly, this representation is simple. Moreover, if Q does not contain oriented cycles every simple representation is isomorphic to S(a) for some vertex $a \in Q_0$.

A representation P of Q is called **projective** if for any representations X and Y of Q, any surjective morphism $f: X \twoheadrightarrow Y$ and any morphism $g: P \to Y$ there exists a morphism $f': P \to X$ such that the diagram



commutes.

Note that a representation P is projective if and only if all indecomposable directs summands of P are projective. In case Q does not contain oriented cycles we may construct all indecomposable projective representations of Q in the following way: Let $a \in Q_0$ be a vertex and define the representation P(a) by

$$P(a)(b) = \bigoplus_{\substack{\pi : a \to b \\ \text{is a path} \\ \text{in } Q}} k\pi$$

for all vertices $b \in Q_0$ and $P(a)(\alpha)(\pi) = \alpha \pi$ for any path $\pi: a \to b$ and any arrow α with $t\alpha = b$. Then the set $\{P(a): a \in Q_0\}$ forms a complete list of pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposable projective representations of Q.

Example 2.5. Let Q be the quiver



The representations P(1), P(2) and P(3) are given by

$$P(1) = k\epsilon_1 \xleftarrow{0} 0 \xrightarrow{0} 0 \cong k \xleftarrow{0} 0 \xrightarrow{0} 0$$

$$P(2) = k\alpha_1 \xleftarrow{\alpha_1 \circ} k\epsilon_2 \xrightarrow{\alpha_2 \circ} k\alpha_2 \cong k \xleftarrow{1} k \xrightarrow{1} k$$

$$P(3) = 0 \xleftarrow{0} 0 \xrightarrow{0} k\epsilon_3 \cong 0 \xleftarrow{0} 0 \xrightarrow{0} k$$

Dually, a representation I of Q is called **injective** if for any representations X and Y of Q, any injective morphism $f: X \hookrightarrow Y$ and any morphism $g: X \to I$ there exists a morphism $f': Y \to I$ such that the diagram



commutes.

Note that a representation I is injective if and only if all indecomposable directs summands of I are injective. In case Q does not contain oriented cycles we may construct all indecomposable injective representations of Q in the following way: Let $a \in Q_0$ be a vertex and define the representation I(a) by

$$I(a)(b) = \bigoplus_{\substack{\pi : b \to a \\ \text{is a path} \\ \text{in } O}} k\pi$$

for all vertices $b \in Q_0$ and

$$I(a)(\alpha)(\pi) = \begin{cases} \pi', & \text{if there is a path } \pi' \colon h\alpha \to a \text{ such that } \pi = \pi'\alpha, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for any path $\pi: b \to a$ and any arrow α with $t\alpha = b$. Then the set $\{I(a): a \in Q_0\}$ forms a complete list of pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposable injective representations of Q.

Example 2.6. Let Q be the quiver

$$Q = \underbrace{\cdot}_{1} \underbrace{\overset{\alpha_1}{\longleftarrow}}_{2} \underbrace{\overset{\alpha_2}{\longrightarrow}}_{3} \underbrace{\cdot}_{3}$$

The representations I(1), I(2) and I(3) are given by

$$I(1) = k\epsilon_1 \xleftarrow{I(1)(\alpha_1)} k\alpha_1 \xrightarrow{0} 0 \cong k \xleftarrow{1} k \xrightarrow{0} 0$$
$$I(2) = 0 \xleftarrow{0} k\epsilon_2 \xrightarrow{0} 0 \cong 0 \xleftarrow{0} k \xrightarrow{0} 0$$
$$I(3) = 0 \xleftarrow{0} k\alpha_2 \xrightarrow{I(3)(\alpha_2)} k\epsilon_3 \cong 0 \xleftarrow{0} k \xrightarrow{1} k$$

2.1.2 Dynkin and extended Dynkin quivers

A quiver Q is said to be of **finite representation type** if there are, up to isomorphism, only finitely many indecomposable representations of Q. According to Gabriel [8] a connected quiver Q is of finite representation type if and only if the underlying non-oriented graph |Q| is one of the following Dynkin diagrams:



Moreover, the number of indecomposable representations of Q is given by

| $\left(\frac{n(n+1)}{2}\right)$ | if $ Q = \mathbb{A}_n$, |
|---------------------------------|---------------------------|
| n(n-1), | if $ Q = \mathbb{D}_n$, |
| ${36},$ | if $ Q = \mathbb{E}_6$, |
| 69, | if $ Q = \mathbb{E}_7$, |
| 120, | if $ Q = \mathbb{E}_8$. |

Example 2.7. The indecomposable representations of

$$Q = \underbrace{\cdot}_{1} \underbrace{\longrightarrow}_{2}$$

are exactly the representations

$$P(1) = k \xrightarrow{1} k \qquad P(2) = 0 \xrightarrow{0} k \qquad S(1) = k \xrightarrow{0} 0$$

A quiver Q is called a **Dynkin quiver** if |Q| is a disjoint union of Dynkin diagrams. Of course, Q is of finite representation type if and only if all its connected components are. Hence Q is of finite representation type if and only if Q is a Dynkin quiver.

A quiver Q is called an **extended Dynkin quiver** or **Euclidean quiver** if |Q| is a disjoint union of extended Dynkin diagrams:



Note that $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}_0$ has one vertex and one loop and $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}_1$ has two vertices joined by two edges.

A quiver is called **tame** if in each dimension vector there are at most finitely many one-parameter families of pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposable representations. Otherwise, it is called **wild**. A quiver Q without oriented cycles is tame if and only if |Q| is a disjoint union of Dynkin and

extended Dynkin diagrams. For a proof of this statement see e.g. chapter XIX in [17].

The **Euler form** is the bilinear form on \mathbb{Z}^n given by

$$\langle \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b} \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i b_i - \sum_{\alpha \in Q_1} a_{t\alpha} b_{h\alpha},$$

where $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_n)$ and $\mathbf{b} = (b_1, \ldots, b_n)$. Associated to the Euler form is the **Tits form** $q: \mathbb{Z}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}$ given by $q(\mathbf{a}) = \langle \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{a} \rangle$. Suppose Q is a connected quiver. Then q is positive definite if and only if Q is a Dynkin quiver and q is positive semi-definite (but not positive definite) if and only if Q is an extended Dynkin quiver. For a tame quiver Q we call a vector $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ a **root** of q if $q(\mathbf{a}) \leq 1$. A root is called **real** if $q(\mathbf{a}) = 1$ and **imaginary** otherwise, i.e. if $q(\mathbf{a}) = 0$. If Q is a Dynkin quiver there is a bijection between the isomorphism classes of indecomposable representations of Q and the positive real roots of q. This bijection is given by assigning to an indecomposable representation its dimension vector. [9]

The following example shows that an indecomposable representation is not necessarily determined by its dimension vector if Q is not a Dynkin quiver:

Example 2.8. Let

$$Q = \bullet \xrightarrow{\qquad \qquad } \bullet \xrightarrow{\qquad \qquad } \bullet \xrightarrow{\qquad \qquad } 1 \qquad 2$$

and for $\lambda \in k$ let X_{λ} be the representation

$$X_{\lambda} = k \xrightarrow{1}_{\lambda} k$$

Clearly, the representation X_{λ} is indecomposable but X_{λ} is not isomorphic to X_{μ} for $\lambda \neq \mu$.

However, for an extended Dynkin quiver Q the following statement holds true: If X is an indecomposable representation of Q then $\dim X$ is a root of q. Conversely, if $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{N}_0^n \setminus \{0\}$ is a positive real root of q there is a unique indecomposable representation X of Q such that $\dim X = \mathbf{a}$ and if $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{N}_0^n \setminus \{0\}$ is a positive imaginary root of q there are infinitely many indecomposable representations X of Q such that $\dim X = \mathbf{a}$.

2.1.3 Reflection functors

Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink of an acyclic quiver Q and denote by $\alpha_j : y_j \longrightarrow z, \ j = 1, \ldots, s$ the arrows with head z. We denote by zQ the quiver obtained from Q by reversing the arrows $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s$. The **reflection functor** $R_z^+ : \operatorname{Rep}(Q) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}(zQ)$ is defined in the following way [9]: For a representation $X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q)$ the vector space $R_z^+(X)(y)$ is given by

$$R_z^+(X)(y) = \begin{cases} X(y), & \text{if } y \neq z \\ \ker\left(\bigoplus_{j=1}^s X(y_j) \xrightarrow{(X(\alpha_1),\dots,X(\alpha_s))} X(z)\right), & \text{if } y = z \end{cases}$$

Moreover, $R_z^+(X)(\alpha) = X(\alpha)$ for any arrow $\alpha \neq \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s$ and for $j = 1, \ldots, s$ the map

$$R_z^+(X)(\alpha_j) \colon R_z^+(X)(z) \longrightarrow X(y_j)$$

is the projection from the kernel of $(X(\alpha_1), \ldots, X(\alpha_s))$ to $X(y_j)$. Note that

$$R_z^+(X \oplus Y) = R_z^+(X) \oplus R_z^+(Y)$$

for any representations $X, Y \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q)$. For a morphism $f = (f_y)_{y \in Q_0} \colon X \longrightarrow Y$ the morphism $R_z^+ f \colon R_z^+ X \longrightarrow R_z^+ Y$ is given by $R_z^+(f)_y = f_y$ for $y \neq z$ and $R_z^+(f)_z$ is the restriction of

$$f_{y_1} \oplus \dots \oplus f_{y_s} \colon \bigoplus_{j=1}^s X(y_j) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=1}^s Y(y_j)$$
 (1)

to $R_z^+(X)(z)$. Note that R_z^+ preserves injections.

If $x \in Q_0$ is a source of Q, there is a dual construction: Let $\alpha_j \colon x \longrightarrow y_j$, $j = 1, \ldots, s$ be the arrows with tail x and denote by Qx the quiver obtained from Q by reversing these arrows. The reflection functor $R_x^- \colon \operatorname{Rep}(Q) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rep}(Qx)$ is given by

$$R_x^-(X)(y) = \begin{cases} X(y), & \text{if } y \neq x \\ \text{coker}\left(X(x) \xrightarrow{(X(\alpha_1),\dots,X(\alpha_s))^T} \bigoplus_{j=1}^s X(y_j)\right), & \text{if } y = x \end{cases}$$

and

$$R_x^-(X)(\alpha) = \begin{cases} X(\alpha), & \text{if } \alpha \neq \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_s \\ \pi_{\big| X(y_j)}, & \text{if } \alpha = \alpha_j \end{cases}$$

where $\pi: \bigoplus_{j=1}^{s} X(y_j) \longrightarrow R_x^-(X)(x)$ is the projection. Note that $R_x^-(X \oplus Y) = R_x^-(X) \oplus R_x^-(Y)$ for any representations $X, Y \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q)$. For a morphism $f = (f_y)_{y \in Q_0} \colon X \longrightarrow Y$ the morphism $R_x^-f \colon R_x^-X \longrightarrow R_x^-Y$ is given by $R_x^-(f)_y = f_y$ for $y \neq x$ and $R_x^-(f)_z$ is the map induced by (1). Note that R_x^- preserves surjections.

For a sink $z \in Q_0$ we denote by $\operatorname{mod}(Q)'$ and $\operatorname{mod}(zQ)'$ the full subcategories of $\operatorname{mod} Q$ and $\operatorname{mod} zQ$ whose objects do not contain S(z) as a direct summand, respectively. The reflection functors $R_z^+: \operatorname{mod} Q \longrightarrow \operatorname{mod} zQ$ and $R_z^-: \operatorname{mod} zQ \longrightarrow \operatorname{mod} Q$ restrict to inverse equivalences between $(\operatorname{mod} Q)'$ and $(\operatorname{mod} zQ)'$. Moreover, any representations $X \in (\operatorname{mod} Q)'$ and $Y \in (\operatorname{mod} zQ)'$ satisfy $\dim R_z^+ X = r_z(\dim X)$ and $\dim R_z^- Y = r_z(\dim Y)$, respectively, where $r_z \colon \mathbb{N}_0^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{N}_0^n$ is given

by
$$r_z(\mathbf{x})_y = \sum_{j=1}^s x_{y_j} - x_z$$
 if $y = z$ and $r_z(\mathbf{x})_y = x_y$ otherwise.

2.1.4 Extension groups

Let Q be an acyclic quiver and X a representation of Q. A **projective resolution** of X is an exact sequence

$$\ldots \longrightarrow P_i \xrightarrow{f_i} P_{i-1} \xrightarrow{f_{i-1}} \ldots \xrightarrow{f_1} P_0 \xrightarrow{f_0} X \longrightarrow 0$$

such that every representation P_i is projective. For a representation Y of Q the induced cochain complex of k-vector spaces yields

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(P_0, Y) \xrightarrow{(f_1)_*} \operatorname{Hom}(P_1, Y) \xrightarrow{(f_2)_*} \dots \xrightarrow{(f_i)_*} \operatorname{Hom}(P_i, Y) \xrightarrow{(f_{i+1})_*} \dots,$$

where $(f_i)_*$: Hom $(P_{i-1}, Y) \longrightarrow$ Hom (P_i, Y) is given by $(f_i)_*(g) = g \circ f_i$. The cohomology groups of this complex are independent of the choice of the projective resolution and $\operatorname{Ext}^i(X, Y)$ is defined as the *i*-th cohomology group $\operatorname{Ext}^i(X, Y) = \ker(f_{i+1})_*/\operatorname{im}(f_i)_*$ for $i \ge 0$ where we set $(f_0)_* = 0$. Note that $\operatorname{Ext}^0(X, Y)$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Hom}(X, Y)$. In our situation there exists a projective resolution of length 2 and hence Ext^i vanishes for $i \ge 2$. We denote the only possibly non-trivial extension group Ext^1 by Ext for short. Hence a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow X_1 \longrightarrow X_2 \longrightarrow X_3 \longrightarrow 0$$

induces long exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(X_3, Y) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(X_2, Y) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(X_1, Y)$$
$$\longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(X_3, Y) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(X_2, Y) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(X_1, Y) \longrightarrow 0$$

and

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(Y, X_1) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(Y, X_2) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(Y, X_3)$$
$$\longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(Y, X_1) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(Y, X_2) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(Y, X_3) \longrightarrow 0$$

of k-vector spaces. Moreover,

$$\operatorname{Ext}(X_1 \oplus X_2, Y) = \operatorname{Ext}(X_1, Y) \oplus \operatorname{Ext}(X_2, Y)$$

and

$$\operatorname{Ext}(X, Y_1 \oplus Y_2) = \operatorname{Ext}(X, Y_1) \oplus \operatorname{Ext}(X, Y_2).$$

The following interpretation of Ext(X, Y) is frequently used: A short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow Y \longrightarrow Z \longrightarrow X \longrightarrow 0$$

is called an **extension** of Y by X. An extension is called **split** if it is equivalent to the **trivial extension**

$$0 \longrightarrow Y \longrightarrow Y \oplus X \longrightarrow X \longrightarrow 0.$$

By definition, two extensions

$$\begin{split} E_1 \colon 0 \longrightarrow Y \longrightarrow Z_1 \longrightarrow X \longrightarrow 0 \\ E_2 \colon 0 \longrightarrow Y \longrightarrow Z_2 \longrightarrow X \longrightarrow 0 \end{split}$$

of Y by X are equivalent if and only if there is a morphism $h: Z_1 \longrightarrow Z_2$ such that the diagram



commutes. Note that h is in fact an isomorphism according to the Five Lemma. An element in Ext(X, Y) may be seen as an extension of Y by X, as there is a bijection between the elements of Ext(X, Y) and the equivalence classes of extensions of Y by X.

2.1.5 The Auslander-Reiten quiver

Let Q be a quiver without oriented cycles. A short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow X \longrightarrow Y \longrightarrow Z \longrightarrow 0$$

in mod Q is called an **almost split sequence** or **Auslander-Reiten sequence** if the following conditions are satisfied:

- i) The sequence does not split.
- ii) The representation X is indecomposable and any homomorphism from X to an indecomposable representation which is not an isomorphism factors through Y.
- iii) The representation Z is indecomposable and any homomorphism from an indecomposable representation to Z which is not an isomorphism factors through Y.

For every indecomposable non-projective representation Z there is an unique (up to isomorphism) almost split sequence ending with Z and for every indecomposable non-injective representation Xthere is an unique (up to isomorphism) almost split sequence starting with X. Moreover, if

$$0 \longrightarrow X \longrightarrow Y \longrightarrow Z \longrightarrow 0$$

is an almost split sequence the representation X is called the **Auslander-Reiten translation** of Z, denoted by $X = \tau Z$ or, equivalently, $Z = \tau^{-1} X$.

An indecomposable representation X of Q is called **preprojective** or **preinjective** if there exist a vertex $a \in Q_0$ and a natural number $t \ge 0$ such that $X = \tau^{-t}P(a)$ or $X = \tau^t I(a)$, respectively. An indecomposable representation of Q which is neither preprojective nor preinjective is called **regular**. Moreover, an arbitrary representation of Q is called preprojective or preinjective or regular if it is a direct sum of indecomposable preprojective or preinjective or regular representations, respectively. In case Q is a Dynkin quiver every representation is both preprojective and preinjective.

The Auslander-Reiten quiver Γ_Q associated with Q is defined in the following way: For each isomorphism class of indecomposable representations of Q there is exactly one vertex in Γ_Q , labelled with a representative of this isomorphism class. For an indecomposable non-injective representation X of Q the number of arrows from the corresponding vertex of Γ_Q to a vertex of Γ_Q corresponding to an indecomposable representation Y is given by the multiplicity of Y in the decomposition of the middle term of the Auslander-Reiten sequence starting with X. For an indecomposable injective representation X the number of arrows from the corresponding vertex to a vertex corresponding to an indecomposable representation Y is given by the multiplicity of X in the decomposition of the middle term of the Auslander-Reiten sequence ending with Y if Yis non-projective and zero otherwise. Note that by the Theorem of Gabriel Γ_Q is a finite quiver if and only if Q is a Dynkin quiver.

Example 2.9. The quiver

$$Q = \underbrace{\cdot}_{1} \underbrace{ \overset{\alpha_{1}}{\longleftarrow} }_{2} \underbrace{ \overset{\alpha_{2}}{\longrightarrow} }_{3}$$

has exactly 6 indecomposable representations, namely the indecomposable projective representations P(1), P(2) and P(3) (see Example 2.5) and the indecomposable injective representations I(1), I(2) and I(3) (see Example 2.6). The Auslander-Reiten sequences yield

$$0 \longrightarrow P(1) \longrightarrow P(2) \longrightarrow I(3) \longrightarrow 0$$
$$0 \longrightarrow P(2) \longrightarrow I(1) \oplus I(3) \longrightarrow I(2) \longrightarrow 0$$
$$0 \longrightarrow P(3) \longrightarrow P(2) \longrightarrow I(1) \longrightarrow 0$$

and the Auslander-Reiten quiver is given by



As in this example the Auslander-Reiten quiver is always drawn such that any vertices corresponding to representations X and τX lie on a (imaginary) horizontal line. The Auslander-Reiten translation is useful to compute the dimension of Hom(X, Y): As

$$\operatorname{Hom}(X_1 \oplus X_2, Y_1 \oplus Y_2) = \operatorname{Hom}(X_1, Y_1) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(X_1, Y_2) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(X_2, Y_1) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(X_2, Y_2)$$

we may assume that both X and Y are indecomposable. If X is projective, i.e. X = P(a) for some vertex $a \in Q_0$ then dim Hom $(X, Y) = \dim Y(a)$ by Yoneda's Lemma. If X is nonprojective and Y is projective then dim Hom(X, Y) = 0 and if X and Y are both non-projective then dim Hom $(X, Y) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(\tau X, \tau Y)$. Hence for a preprojective representation $X = \tau^{-t}P(a)$ the dimension of Hom(X, Y) is given by dim $(\tau^t Y)(a)$ if $\tau^t Y$ exists and zero otherwise. Similarly, if Y is preinjective, i.e. $Y = \tau^t I(a)$, then dim Hom $(X, Y) = \dim(\tau^{-t}X)(a)$ if $\tau^{-t}X$ exists and dim Hom(X, Y) = 0 otherwise.

Furthermore, if X, Y and Z are indecomposable preprojective (but not preinjective), regular and preinjective (but not preprojective) representations, respectively, then

$$\operatorname{Hom}(Y,X) = \operatorname{Hom}(Z,X) = \operatorname{Hom}(Z,Y) = 0$$

[1] (Corollary 2.13 in chapter XIII).

In order to compute the dimension of Ext(X, Y) the **Auslander-Reiten formula** [2] is very helpful: If X is indecomposable and non-projective then dim $\text{Ext}(X, Y) = \dim \text{Hom}(Y, \tau X)$. Note that Ext(X, Y) = 0 in case X is projective.

Moreover, the Euler form provides a useful connection between Ext and Hom as

$$\langle \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \mathbf{X}, \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \mathbf{Y} \rangle = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(X, Y) - \dim \operatorname{Ext}(X, Y)$$

for any representations X and Y of Q.

2.2 Geometry of representations

2.2.1 The representation space

For $\mathbf{d} = (d_1, \ldots, d_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ we denote by Rep (Q, \mathbf{d}) the **representation space** with dimension vector \mathbf{d} , that is the set of representations X of Q satisfying dim $X(j) = d_j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, n$. By choosing a basis for every vector space X(j) a representation X with dimension vector

$$\operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \boldsymbol{X} := (\dim X(1), \dots, \dim X(n)) = \mathbf{d}$$

yields an element of the direct product of Mat $(d_{h\alpha} \times d_{t\alpha}, k)$ over all $\alpha \in Q_1$ and vice versa, hence

$$\operatorname{Rep}\left(Q,\mathbf{d}\right) = \prod_{\alpha \in Q_1} \operatorname{Mat}\left(d_{h\alpha} \times d_{t\alpha},k\right).$$

The group

$$\operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) := \prod_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{GL}(d_i, k)$$

acts on $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ by conjugation, that is

$$(g \cdot X)(\alpha) = g_{h\alpha} \circ X(\alpha) \circ g_{t\alpha}^{-1}$$

for $g = (g_1, \ldots, g_n) \in \operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d})$ and $X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$. By definition, the $\operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d})$ -orbits of $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ are exactly the isomorphism classes of representations X of Q with dimension vector $\operatorname{dim} \mathbf{X} = \mathbf{d}$.

The **Zariski topology** for $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ is defined in the following way: A subset of $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ is closed if and only if it is the zero set

$$\mathcal{Z}(I) = \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : f(X) = 0 \text{ for all } f \in I \}$$

of some ideal $I \subseteq k[\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})]$, where $k[\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})]$ denotes the algebra of polynomial functions on $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$. The representation space $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ is **irreducible**, i.e. it cannot be written as the union of two proper closed sets or, equivalently, every non-empty open set is dense.

Let $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ be any representation. The orbit $\text{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot X$ of X is **locally closed**, i.e. $\text{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot X$ is open in the closure $\overline{\text{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot X}$. According to the **Artin-Voigt Lemma** [14] the codimension of $\text{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot X$ is given by dim Ext(X, X). Furthermore, the orbit of X (and hence its closure as well) is irreducible since $\text{GL}(\mathbf{d})$ is connected.

For X and Y in Rep (Q, \mathbf{d}) the representation X is called a **degeneration** of Y, denoted by $Y \leq_{\text{deg}} X$, if the orbit of X is in the Zariski closure of the orbit of Y, i.e. $X \in \overline{\text{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot Y}$. Clearly, \leq_{deg} is a partial order on the set of isomorphism classes of representations of Q with dimension vector \mathbf{d} .

There is another partial order on this set, namely \leq_{hom} , given by $Y \leq_{\text{hom}} X$ if and only if $\dim \text{Hom}(M, Y) \leq \dim \text{Hom}(M, X)$ for all representations M of Q. In fact, this condition is equivalent to $\dim \text{Hom}(Y, M) \leq \dim \text{Hom}(X, M)$ for all M (see [3] and also [11]).

In case Q is a tame quiver the partial orders \leq_{deg} and \leq_{hom} coincide (see [7] and [6]). Thus the geometric problem whether some representation degenerates to some other may be reformulated as an algebraic problem. We will make use of this fact several times.

2.2.2 The open orbit and its complement

A dimension vector \mathbf{d} is called **prehomogeneous** if there is a representation $T \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ such that its orbit $\text{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ is open (or, equivalently, dense) in $\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$. The Artin-Voigt Lemma implies that T has an open orbit if and only if Ext(T,T) = 0. Note that every dimension vector \mathbf{d} is prehomogeneous if Q is a Dynkin quiver. Indeed, $\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ contains only finitely many orbits in this case since Q is of finite representation type and hence one of them must be dense as $\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ is irreducibe.

Let **d** be a sincere prehomogeneous dimension vector and let T have an open orbit in Rep (Q, \mathbf{d}) . The complement Rep $(Q, \mathbf{d}) \setminus \operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ is a closed subset of Rep (Q, \mathbf{d}) and hence has a decomposition into irreducible components. This decomposition has been studied by Ch. Riedtmann and A. Schofield in [12]. In order to formulate their result, let

$$T = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{\prime} T_j^{\lambda_j} \qquad (\text{where } \lambda_j > 0 \text{ and } T_i \not\simeq T_j \text{ for } i \neq j)$$

be the decomposition of T into indecomposable direct summands and set

$$T[\hat{i}] := \bigoplus_{j \neq i} T_j^{\lambda_j}.$$

Following [12] an indecomposable direct summand T_i of T is called **essential** if it is either a submodule or a quotient of some representation in add $T[\hat{i}]$, the full subcategory of mod Q whose objects are direct sums of the form

$$\bigoplus_{j \neq i} T_j^{\mu_j} \text{ with } \mu_j \ge 0.$$

Theorem (Ch. Riedtmann and A. Schofield).

Let Q be a quiver without oriented cycles and let d be a sincere prehomogeneous dimension vector. Let the orbit of T be open in Rep (Q, d) and suppose T is stable. Then Rep $(Q, d) \setminus \text{GL}(d) \cdot T$ has n - r irreducible components of codimension one and there is a bijection between the irreducible components of codimension greater than one and the indecomposable direct summands of T which are essential. Moreover, every component is the closure of an orbit.

The condition that T must be **stable** is no restriction in case Q is a Dynkin quiver. If Q is not a Dynkin quiver it means the multiplicities λ_j are 'large enough', see section 3.2 for the precise definition.

Note that [12] also contains for each irreducible component of $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) \setminus \operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ a description of a generic representation, i.e. of a representation such that the closure of its orbit yields the irreducible component.

In [15], A. Schofield presented polynomials whose zeros are the irreducible components of codimension one. In this thesis, we suppose Q is a tame quiver and generalise the idea of A. Schofield to obtain for each irreducible component of codimension greater than one an ideal in the polynomial ring $k [\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})]$ whose zero set is this component.

In case Q is the equioriented Dynkin quiver of type \mathbb{A}_n K. Baur and L. Hille described in [4] the irreducible components of no matter what codimension of $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) \setminus \operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ without using the results of Ch. Riedtmann and A. Schofield. We will apply our result to this case and show that it may be seen as a generalisation of the one in [4].

3 The complement of the open orbit for tame quivers

Let Q be a tame quiver and \mathbf{d} a prehomogeneous dimension vector. We consider the complement of the open orbit of the representation space $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ and generalise the idea of A. Schofield [15] to obtain for each irreducible component of codimension greater than one an ideal in the polynomial ring $k [\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})]$ whose zero set is this component. Moreover, we compare our result with the one of K. Baur and L. Hille, who found for each irreducible component some defining rank conditions in case Q is the equioriented Dynkin quiver of type \mathbb{A}_n [4].

3.1 Introduction

Let k be an algebraically closed field and let $Q = (Q_0, Q_1)$ be a tame quiver, i.e. every connected component of Q is either a Dynkin quiver of type \mathbb{A}_m , \mathbb{D}_m , \mathbb{E}_6 , \mathbb{E}_7 , \mathbb{E}_8 or an extended Dynkin quiver of type $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}_m$, $\widetilde{\mathbb{D}}_m$, $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}_6$, $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}_7$, $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}_8$. We identify the vertex set Q_0 with $Q_0 = \{1, \ldots, n\}$. For $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ we define

$$\operatorname{Rep}\left(Q,\mathbf{d}\right) := \prod_{\alpha \in Q_1} \operatorname{Mat}\left(d_{h\alpha} \times d_{t\alpha}, k\right),$$

where $t\alpha$ and $h\alpha$ denote the tail and the head of $\alpha \in Q_1$, respectively. The group

$$\operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) := \prod_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{GL}(d_i, k)$$

acts on $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ by conjugation, that is

$$(g \cdot X)(\alpha) = g_{h\alpha} \circ X(\alpha) \circ g_{t\alpha}^{-1}$$

for $g = (g_1, \ldots, g_n) \in \operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d})$ and $X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$. Clearly, the $\operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d})$ -orbits of $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ are exactly the isomorphism classes of representations X of Q with dimension vector

$$\dim \boldsymbol{X} = (\dim X(1), \dots, \dim X(n)) = \boldsymbol{d}.$$

Throughout this chapter we suppose w.l.o.g. that **d** is since j = 0 for j = 1, ..., n.

A dimension vector $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ is called prehomogeneous if there is a representation $T \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ such that its orbit $\text{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ is open in $\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ with respect to the Zariski topology. Note that in case Q is a Dynkin quiver every dimension vector \mathbf{d} is prehomogeneous. Indeed, since Q is of finite representation type [8], $\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ contains only finitely many orbits and hence one of them is dense (and thus open) as $\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ is irreducibe.

Since the support of a representation having an open orbit never contains oriented cycles we assume throughout this chapter that Q has no oriented cycles. Thus the category mod Q of representations of Q is an abelian category of global dimension one and we denote the only possibly non-trivial extension group Ext¹ by Ext for short. Note that by [14], T has an open orbit if and only if $\operatorname{Ext}(T,T) = 0.$ For a prehomogeneous dimension vector let

$$T = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{r} T_{j}^{\lambda_{j}} \qquad (\text{where } \lambda_{j} > 0 \text{ and } T_{i} \not\simeq T_{j} \text{ for } i \neq j)$$

be the decomposition of T into indecomposable direct summands and set

$$T[\hat{i}] := \bigoplus_{j \neq i} T_j^{\lambda_j}.$$

An indecomposable direct summand T_i of T is called essential if it is either a submodule or a quotient of some representation in add $T[\hat{i}]$, the full subcategory of mod Q whose objects are direct sums of the form

$$\bigoplus_{j \neq i} T_j^{\mu_j} \text{ with } \mu_j \ge 0.$$

The complement $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) \setminus \operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ has been studied by Ch. Riedtmann and A. Schofield in [12]. Provided T is stable (which is no restriction in case Q is a Dynkin quiver; otherwise it means the multiplicities λ_j are 'large enough', see section 3.2 for the precise definition) they proved the following: There are n - r irreducible components of codimension one and there is a bijection between the irreducible components of codimension greater than one and the indecomposable direct summands of T which are essential. Moreover, they showed that every component is the closure of an orbit and gave a description of these orbits. We will recall these results in more detail in section 3.2.

Furthermore, A. Schofield presented polynomials whose zeros are the irreducible components of codimension one in [15]. In fact, he proved these components are given by

$$\mathcal{D}_j = \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{Hom}(X, S_j) \neq 0 \text{ or } \operatorname{Ext}(X, S_j) \neq 0 \}, \quad j = r + 1, \dots, n,$$

where S_{r+1}, \ldots, S_n denote the simple objects of the category T^{\perp} (see section 3.2), which he proved is equivalent to the category of representations of a quiver having n - r vertices. This may be reformulated in the following way: Mapping $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ to an injective resolution

 $0 \longrightarrow S_j \longrightarrow I_1 \longrightarrow I_2 \longrightarrow 0$

of S_j in mod Q gives the long exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(X, S_j) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(X, I_1) \xrightarrow{g_j} \operatorname{Hom}(X, I_2) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(X, S_j) \longrightarrow 0.$$

As the Euler form $\langle \mathbf{d}, \mathbf{dim} S_j \rangle$ vanishes [15] we have dim $\operatorname{Hom}(X, S_j) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ext}(X, S_j)$ (see section 3.2) and hence $\operatorname{Hom}(X, S_j) \neq 0$ or $\operatorname{Ext}(X, S_j) \neq 0$ if and only if the map g_j is not an isomorphism.

Decomposing

$$I_1 = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{r_1} I(a_k)$$
 and $I_2 = \bigoplus_{l=1}^{r_2} I(b_l)$

where I(c) denotes the indecomposable injective representation corresponding to the vertex c, the map g_j is isomorphic to the map $X^t(g_j) \colon \bigoplus_{k=1}^{r_1} X(a_k) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{l=1}^{r_2} X(b_l)$ and hence

$$\mathcal{D}_j = \left\{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}\left(Q, \mathbf{d}\right) : \det X(g_j) = 0 \right\}, \quad j = r + 1, \dots, n.$$

We generalise this idea as follows to obtain for each irreducible component of codimension greater than one an ideal in the polynomial ring $k [\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})]$ whose zero set is this component: Let

$$T_B = \bigoplus_{j=r+1}^n T_j$$

be the Bongartz completion (see section 3.2) of T. For T_i essential as a submodule we set

$$U_i := T_i / \operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i,$$

where $\operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}]\oplus T_B} T_i$ is the trace of $T[\hat{i}]\oplus T_B$ in T_i , i.e. the sum of all images of maps from $T[\hat{i}]\oplus T_B$ to T_i . We will prove in section 3.4 that U_i is indecomposable; in fact, U_i is the unique indecomposable and hence simple representation in $(T[\hat{i}]\oplus T_B)^{\perp}$. This notion allows us to formulate our result:

Theorem 3.1. Let Q be a tame quiver and $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ a sincere prehomogeneous dimension vector such that T is stable, where $\operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ is the open orbit in $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$. Let T_i be essential as a submodule and denote by T_B the Bongartz completion of T. The irreducible component C_i corresponding to T_i is given by

$$\mathcal{C}_i = \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep} \left(Q, d \right) : \operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0 \},\$$

where $U_i = T_i / \operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i$.

Again, an ideal in the polynomial ring $k [\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})]$ whose zero set is this component is obtained by mapping $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ to an injective resolution of U_i . Note however that unlike before, the dimensions dim $\text{Hom}(X, U_i)$ and dim $\text{Ext}(X, U_i)$ never agree. In fact (see section 3.2),

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(X, U_i) - \dim \operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i) = \langle \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} X, \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} U_i \rangle = \langle \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} T, \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} U_i \rangle$$
$$= \dim \operatorname{Hom}(T, U_i) - \dim \operatorname{Ext}(T, U_i) = \lambda_i > 0,$$

where the last equality will be proved in Lemma 3.7. Therefore, $\text{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0$ is equivalent to the condition that all minors of order dim $\text{Hom}(X, I_2) = \sum_{l=1}^{r_2} d_{b_l}$ of

$$X(g_i) \colon \bigoplus_{l=1}^{r_2} X(b_l) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k=1}^{r_1} X(a_k)$$

are zero.

Note that the description of C_i in case T_i is essential as a quotient is simply obtained by dualizing the Theorem above: Let V_i be the unique indecomposable representation in ${}^{\perp}(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_{DB})$, where T_{DB} denotes the dual Bongartz completion (see section 3.2) of T. The irreducible component corresponding to T_i is then given by

$$\mathcal{C}_i = \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{Ext}(V_i, X) \neq 0 \}$$

and an ideal in the polynomial ring $k [\text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})]$ whose zero set is this component is obtained by applying Hom (\cdot, X) to a projective resolution of V_i .

From now on we let $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ be a sincere prehomogeneous dimension vector and denote by $\operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ the open orbit in Rep (Q, \mathbf{d}) . Moreover, we assume T_i is essential as a submodule and denote by U_i the representation $U_i = T_i / \operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i$, where T_B denotes the Bongartz completion of T.

In case Q is the equioriented Dynkin quiver of type \mathbb{A}_n K. Baur and L. Hille described in [4] the irreducible components (of no matter what codimension) of the complement of the open orbit without using the results of Ch. Riedtmann and A. Schofield. Instead, they used rank conditions to define closed varieties in the complement, some of them turning out to be exactly the irreducible components. In section 3.3 we apply our result to this case and show that our rank condition derived above is precisely the rank condition found by K. Baur and L. Hille. In this sense, our result may be seen as a generalisation of the one in [4].

The main idea of the proof of the Theorem is the following: It is quite easy to see that the component C_i is contained in the set

$$\mathcal{E}_i := \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0 \}.$$

For the other inclusion, we first prove that we may restrict ourselves to the case where the multiplicities λ_j are 'large enough' for $j = 1, \ldots, r$ and we show the statement is true in case T_i is simple and projective. In a second step, we consider in section 3.7.2 the easier case where Q is just a Dynkin quiver and use, depending on the dimension vector, either reflection functors or an induction argument on n to handle an arbitrary essential T_i . Finally, we prove in section 3.7.3 the statement for an arbitrary tame quiver. The additional difficulty in the latter case is due to the fact that not every representation is preprojective (see section 3.2), which means we cannot always derive the result from the special case where T_i is simple and projective. However, this problem can be solved by considering also reflections at sources and 'cutting out' a source (instead of considering just reflections at sinks and 'cutting out' a sink which suffices in the Dynkin case), meaning the principal ideas remain the same. These arguments as well as the reduction to large multiplicities are based on comparing the complement of the open orbit for (suitable) different dimension vectors. This is easily possible, since the irreducible components are closures of orbits as T is supposed to be stable (see section 3.2).

This chapter is organized as follows: In section 3.2 we introduce some basic notions and recall in particular the results of Ch. Riedtmann and A. Schofield and in section 3.3 we study as announced

the special case where Q is the equioriented Dynkin quiver of type \mathbb{A}_n . In section 3.4 we prove the inclusion $C_i \subseteq \mathcal{E}_i$ whereas the rest of the proof is presented in section 3.7. The sections 3.5 and 3.6 contain the necessary preparatory considerations. Note that the sections 3.5.2 and 3.6.2 are not needed for the proof in case Q is a Dynkin quiver.

3.2 Notations and Preliminaries

For $X, Y \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ the representation X is called a degeneration of Y, denoted by $Y \leq_{\text{deg}} X$, if the orbit of X is in the Zariski closure of the orbit of Y, i.e. $X \in \overline{\text{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot Y}$. Clearly, \leq_{deg} is a partial order on the set of isomorphism classes of representations of Q with dimension vector \mathbf{d} . There is another partial order on this set, namely \leq_{hom} , given by $Y \leq_{\text{hom}} X$ if and only if $\dim \text{Hom}(M, Y) \leq \dim \text{Hom}(M, X)$ for all representations M of Q. In fact, this condition is equivalent to $\dim \text{Hom}(Y, M) \leq \dim \text{Hom}(X, M)$ for all M (see [3] and also [11]).

Since Q is a tame quiver the partial orders \leq_{deg} and \leq_{hom} coincide (see [7] and [6]). Thus the geometric problem whether some representation degenerates to some other may be reformulated as an algebraic problem. We will make use of this fact several times. In particular, we note that the following 'cancellation' holds true: If $X \oplus N$ is a degeneration of $Y \oplus N$ for some representation N, then X is a degeneration of Y.

Let M be any representation of Q. The right and left perpendicular categories M^{\perp} and $^{\perp}M$ are defined as the full subcategories of representations X of Q such that $\operatorname{Hom}(M, X) = \operatorname{Ext}(M, X) = 0$ and $\operatorname{Hom}(X, M) = \operatorname{Ext}(X, M) = 0$, respectively. Because these subcategories are closed under direct sums, direct summands, extensions, images, kernels and cokernels they are exact abelian categories. In case $\operatorname{Ext}(M, M) = 0$ the category M^{\perp} is equivalent to the category of representations of some quiver having no oriented cycles and n - r vertices, where r is the number of non-isomorphic indecomposable direct summands of M [15]. Note that this statement is also true for $^{\perp}M$. Denoting by τ the Auslander-Reiten translation the Auslander-Reiten formulae [2] yield

 $\dim \operatorname{Ext}(X, Y) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(Y, \tau X),$ $\dim \operatorname{Hom}(X, Y) = \dim \operatorname{Ext}(Y, \tau X)$

if X does not contain a direct summand which is projective. Clearly, this implies $M^{\perp} =^{\perp} \tau M$ for any representation M which does not contain a projective direct summand.

For a vertex $y \in Q_0$ we denote by P(y) the indecomposable projective representation corresponding to y. An indecomposable representation X of Q is called preprojective if $X = \tau^{-t}P(y)$ for some $t \ge 0$ and some vertex $y \in Q_0$. The notion of an indecomposable preinjective representation of Q is defined dually and an indecomposable representation of Q is called regular if it is neither preprojective nor preinjective. Moreover, an arbitrary representation of Q is called preprojective or preinjective or regular if it is a direct sum of indecomposable preprojective or preinjective or regular representations, respectively. Note that in case Q is a Dynkin quiver every representation is both preprojective and preinjective. Let X, Y and Z be an indecomposable preprojective (but not preinjective), regular and preinjective (but not preprojective) representation, respectively. Then $\operatorname{Hom}(Y, X) = \operatorname{Hom}(Z, X) = \operatorname{Hom}(Z, Y) = 0$ [1] (Corollary 2.13 in chapter XIII). Recall that a representation is called a tilting module if it contains exactly n different indecomposable direct summands and has no self-extensions. If X is a tilting module, then X cannot be a regular representation [17] (Lemma 3.4 in chapter XVII).

Recall that the Euler form is the bilinear form on \mathbb{Z}^n given by $\langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^n x_i y_i - \sum_{\alpha \in Q_1} x_{t\alpha} y_{h\alpha}$, where $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and $\mathbf{y} = (y_1, \ldots, y_n)$. For two representations X and Y of Q the Euler form $\langle \dim \mathbf{X}, \dim \mathbf{Y} \rangle$ may be computed as $\langle \dim \mathbf{X}, \dim \mathbf{Y} \rangle = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(X, Y) - \dim \operatorname{Ext}(X, Y)$. Associated to the Euler form is the Tits form $q: \mathbb{Z}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}$ given by $q(\mathbf{x}) = \langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \rangle$. Since Q is a tame quiver this quadratic form is positive semi-definite. More precisely, if Q is a Dynkin quiver, q is positive definite and there is a bijection between the isomorphism classes of indecomposable representations of Q and the positive roots of q, that is the set of $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{N}_0^n \setminus \{0\}$ satisfying $q(\mathbf{x}) = 1$. This bijection is given by assigning to an indecomposable representation its dimension vector. [9]

The following statements are proved by D. Happel and C. M. Ringel in [10] (Lemma 4.1. and Corollary 4.2.): For two indecomposable representations X and Y satisfying Ext(X, Y) = 0 any non-zero map from Y to X is either injective or surjective. This implies in particular that for two non-isomorphic indecomposable direct summands T_j and T_l of T the vector spaces $\text{Hom}(T_j, T_l)$ and $\text{Hom}(T_l, T_j)$ cannot both be non-zero.

Let us recall the definition of the Bongartz completion T_B of $T = \bigoplus_{j=1}^r T_j$ [5]: For $j = 1, \ldots, r$ let μ_j be the dimension of $\text{Ext}(T_j, kQ)$, where kQ denotes the quiver algebra of Q, understood as a representation of Q. There is an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow kQ \longrightarrow \tilde{T} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=1}^{r} T_{j}^{\mu_{j}} \longrightarrow 0$$

such that for l = 1, ..., r the map $\operatorname{Hom}(T_l, \bigoplus_{j=1}^r T_j^{\mu_j}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(T_l, kQ)$ (obtained from mapping T_l to this exact sequence) is surjective. The representation \tilde{T} is independent (up to isomorphism) of the choice of such an exact sequence. Moreover, $T \oplus \tilde{T}$ has exactly n pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposable direct summands and satisfies $\operatorname{Ext}(T \oplus \tilde{T}, T \oplus \tilde{T}) = 0$. The Bongartz completion T_B is defined as the direct sum $T_B = \bigoplus_{j=r+1}^n T_j$ consisting of those indecomposable direct summands of \tilde{T} which do not occur as direct summands of T. The notion of the dual Bongartz completion T_{DB} is defined dually, i.e. T_{DB} is the dual of the Bongartz completion of the dual representation of T.

In order to be able to formulate the result of Ch. Riedtmann and A. Schofield we recall the notion of source and sink maps: For pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposable representations X, Y_1, \ldots, Y_l a map $f: X \longrightarrow Y := \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} Y_i^{\mu_i}$ (with $\mu_i \ge 0$) is called a source map from X to add $(Y_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus Y_l)$ if first any map from X to some Y_j factors through f and second if $g \circ f$ still has this property for an endomorphism g of Y, then g is an automorphism. The notion of a sink map is defined dually. Both sink and source maps exist and are unique up to isomorphism, i.e. if $f_1: X \longrightarrow \bigoplus Y_i^{\mu_i}$ and

 $f_2: X \longrightarrow \bigoplus Y_i^{\nu_i}$ are source maps from X to $\operatorname{add}(Y_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus Y_l)$, then there is an isomorphism $h: \bigoplus Y_i^{\mu_i} \longrightarrow \bigoplus Y_i^{\nu_i}$ such that $f_2 = h \circ f_1$.

The following may be found in [12]: For an indecomposable direct summand T_j of T the source map from T_j to add $T[\hat{j}]$ as well as the sink map from add $T[\hat{j}]$ to T_j is either injective or surjective. Moreover, the following Lemma holds true.

Lemma 3.2.

- i) Let T_j be an indecomposable direct summand of T. If the source map from T_j to add $T[\hat{j}]$ is injective, then the sink map from add $T[\hat{j}]$ to T_j is injective as well.
- ii) Let T_j be an indecomposable direct summand of T_B . The source map from T_j to add T is injective if the support of T equals Q_0 .

In particular, the sink map from add T to T_j is injective for j = r + 1, ..., n. Furthermore, the quotients $T_j/\operatorname{tr}_T T_j$ for j = r + 1, ..., n are exactly the indecomposable projective representations in T^{\perp} , see [12].

Sink and source maps may be used to characterize the Bongartz completion and the dual Bongartz completion of T: Given a representation $M = M_{r+1} \oplus \cdots \oplus M_n \in \text{mod } Q$ (where M_{r+1}, \ldots, M_n are indecomposable and pairwise non-isomorphic) such that $T \oplus M$ is a tilting module the sink map from $\text{add}(T \oplus M[\hat{j}])$ to M_j is injective for $j = r + 1, \ldots, n$ if and only if M is the Bongartz completion of T [13]. Analogously, M is the dual Bongartz completion of T if and only if the source map from M_i to $\text{add}(T \oplus M[\hat{j}])$ is surjective for $j = r + 1, \ldots, n$.

Let T_j be an indecomposable direct summand of T and denote by

$$f_j^+: T_j \longrightarrow T_j^+$$
 and $f_j^-: T_j^- \longrightarrow T_j$

the source map from T_j to $\operatorname{add} T[\hat{j}]$ and the sink map from $\operatorname{add} T[\hat{j}]$ to T_j , respectively. If Q is a Dynkin quiver the representations T_j^+ and T_j^- are direct summands of T since dim $\operatorname{Hom}(T_k, T_l)$ is at most one for any pair (T_k, T_l) of non-isomorphic indecomposable direct summands of T. Indeed, assuming dim $\operatorname{Hom}(T_k, T_l) \neq 0$ implies dim $\operatorname{Hom}(T_l, T_k) = 0$ and hence $\langle \operatorname{dim} T_l, \operatorname{dim} T_k \rangle = 0$. The positive definiteness of $\langle \operatorname{dim} T_l - \operatorname{dim} T_k, \operatorname{dim} T_l - \operatorname{dim} T_k \rangle$ thus yields $0 < 2 - \langle \operatorname{dim} T_k, \operatorname{dim} T_l \rangle$ as $\operatorname{dim} T_k$ and $\operatorname{dim} T_l$ are roots of q, respectively. Combining this with

$$0 = \dim \operatorname{Ext}(T_k, T_l) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(T_k, T_l) - \langle \dim T_k, \dim T_l \rangle$$

implies dim Hom $(T_k, T_l) = \langle \operatorname{dim} T_k, \operatorname{dim} T_l \rangle = 1$ as desired.

For the same reason the representation T_j^{++} , defined by the property that there is a source map $g_j^+: T_j \longrightarrow T_j^{++}$ from an indecomposable direct summand T_j of T_B to add T, is a direct summand of T. However, if Q is not a Dynkin quiver the representations T_j^+, T_j^- and T_j^{++} are not necessarily direct summands of T, respectively, which leads to the following definition [12]: The representation T is called stable if T_j^{++} for $j = r + 1, \ldots, n$ as well as T_j^+ for T_j essential as a submodule and T_j^- for T_j essential as a quotient are direct summands of T, respectively.

Supposing T is stable, we recall the result of Ch. Riedtmann and A. Schofield in more detail [12]: As already mentioned, the irreducible components of codimension greater than one of the complement of the open orbit are in bijection with the indecomposable direct summands T_j of T which are essential, i.e. which are either a submodule or a quotient of some representation in add $T[\hat{j}]$. More precisely, if T_j is essential, then the closure of the set of representations in Rep (Q, \mathbf{d}) which contain $T_j^{\lambda_{j+1}}$ as a direct summand is an irreducible component of codimension $\lambda_j + 1$, denoted by C_j . Moreover, for T_i essential as a submodule the irreducible component C_i is the closure of the orbit of

$$W_i := T_i^{\lambda_i + 1} \oplus Y_i \oplus R_i,$$

where Y_i denotes the cokernel of the injective source map $f_i^+: T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+$ from T_i to add $T[\hat{i}]$ and R_i is given by $T[\hat{i}] = T_i^+ \oplus R_i$. Note that there is a dual description in case T_j is essential as a quotient. Furthermore, the representation Y_i has the following properties:

Lemma 3.3. The representation Y_i is indecomposable and satisfies $\text{Ext}(Y_i \oplus T[\hat{i}], Y_i \oplus T[\hat{i}]) = 0$.

From now on, we fix the notation introduced above.

In case T is not stable the complement $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) \setminus \operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ is still the union of n - r irreducible components of codimension one and closed irreducible subsets C_j (which are in bijection with the direct summands of T which are essential) of greater codimension. However, there might be inclusions among the sets C_j and the irreducible components are not necessarily closures of orbits. [12]

Recall that \mathcal{E}_i is the set $\mathcal{E}_i = \{X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \text{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0\}$. In order to prove Theorem 3.1 it is enough to prove

Theorem 3.4. Let Q be a tame quiver, $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ a sincere prehomogeneous dimension vector and denote by $\operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ the open orbit in $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$. Let T_i be essential as a submodule and assume T_i^+ is a direct summand of T. Then the closure of the orbit of W_i equals \mathcal{E}_i .

Indeed, if T is stable, then T_i^+ is a direct summand of T and the closure of the orbit of W_i is the component C_i .

The only reason we prove this version of the statement instead of the original one is purely technical: In the proof we will use reflection functors, which do not necessarily preserve the stability of T and thus it is more convenient to avoid this notion in the proof. Instead, we suppose throughout this chapter that T_i^+ is a direct summand of T and denote by W_i the closure of the orbit of W_i . Note that we do not know whether W_i is an irreducible component or just an irreducible subset.

A vertex $z \in Q_0$ is called sink if there is no arrow in Q_1 with tail z but there are $s \ge 1$ arrows $\alpha_j \colon y_j \longrightarrow z, \ j = 1, \ldots, s$ with head z. Note that the vertices y_j are not necessarily pairwise distinct. Dually, a vertex $x \in Q_0$ is called source if there is no arrow in Q_1 with head x but there are $s \ge 1$ arrows $\alpha_j \colon x \longrightarrow y_j, \ j = 1, \ldots, s$ with tail x.

From now on, $z \in Q_0$ denotes a sink and $x \in Q_0$ denotes a source and we set

$$\Delta(z) := \sum_{j=1}^{s} d_{y_j} - d_z$$
 and $\Delta(x) := \sum_{j=1}^{s} d_{y_j} - d_x$,

respectively. Moreover, we denote the simple representation supported at a vertex $y \in Q_0$ by S(y). Note that dim $\text{Ext}(T, S(z)) = \nu + \Delta(z)$, where ν denotes the number of indecomposable direct summands of T isomorphic to S(z). This implies

Remark 3.5. The representation S(z) is a direct summand of T if and only if $\Delta(z) < 0$.

Indeed, if S(z) is a direct summand of T, then $0 = \dim \operatorname{Ext}(T, S(z)) = \nu + \Delta(z)$ and hence $\Delta(z) < 0$. Conversely, if $\Delta(z) < 0$ then $\nu > \dim \operatorname{Ext}(T, S(z)) \ge 0$. Dually, S(x) is a direct summand of T if and only if $\Delta(x) < 0$.

As a consequence, S(z) lies in T^{\perp} if and only if $\Delta(z) = 0$. In addition, if S(z) lies in T^{\perp} there exists an indecomposable direct summand T_j of T_B such that $T_j/\operatorname{tr}_T T_j = S(z)$ (see section 3.2) since S(z) is indecomposable and projective. This is only possible if T_j equals S(z) and hence we obtain

Remark 3.6. The representation S(z) is a direct summand of T_B if and only if $\Delta(z) = 0$.

3.3 The equioriented Dynkin quiver of type \mathbb{A}_n

Let us consider the case where

$$Q = \underbrace{\mathbf{a}}_{1} \underbrace{\mathbf{a}}_{2} \underbrace{\mathbf{a}}_{3} \underbrace{\mathbf{a}}_{3} \underbrace{\mathbf{a}}_{4} \underbrace{\mathbf{a}}_{n-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{a}$$

is the equioriented Dynkin quiver of type \mathbb{A}_n , i.e. $t\alpha_j = j + 1$ and $h\alpha_j = j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, n - 1$. For $1 \leq a \leq b \leq n$ we denote by [a, b] the indecomposable representation supported at the vertices $\{a, a + 1, \ldots, b\}$. Note that every indecomposable representation of Q is of this form. Moreover, we denote by P(c) = [1, c], I(c) = [c, n] and S(c) = [c, c] the indecomposable projective, injective and simple representation corresponding to the vertex c, respectively. It is well-known that

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}([a,b],[c,d]) = \begin{cases} 1, \text{ if } a \leq c \text{ and } c \leq b \leq d \\ 0, \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\dim \operatorname{Ext}([a, b], [c, d]) = \begin{cases} 1, \text{ if } c \leq a - 1 \text{ and } a \leq d + 1 \leq b \\ 0, \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This information is contained in the Auslander-Reiten quiver (see figure 1) as follows: The dimension dim Hom([a, b], [c, d]) equals 1 if and only if the representation [c, d] lies in the rectangle given by the vertices [a, b], S(b), I(b) and I(a), which is equivalent to the condition that [a, b] lies in the rectangle given by the vertices [c, d], S(c), P(c) and P(d). Using the Auslander-Reiten formulae we obtain that dim Ext([a, b], [c, d]) = 1 if and only if [c, d] is not injective and [a, b] lies in the rectangle given by the vertices [c + 1, d + 1], S(d + 1), I(d + 1) and I(c + 1), which is the case if and only if [a, b] is not projective and [c, d] lies in the rectangle given by the vertices [a - 1, b - 1], S(a - 1), P(a - 1) and P(b - 1).

Furthermore, note that if for two indecomposable representations $X = [x_1, x_2]$ and $Y = [y_1, y_2]$ of Q with $\operatorname{Ext}(Y, X) = 0$ there is a non-zero homomorphism $f: X \longrightarrow Y$, then either $x_1 = y_1$ and f is injective or $x_2 = y_2$ and f is surjective. (Of course, this is just a special case of the Lemma of D. Happel and C. M. Ringel, see section 3.2.) In terms of the Auslander-Reiten quiver (see figure 1) this implies that X and Y both lie on the same downward or upward diagonal, respectively.

Recall that any dimension vector $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ is prehomogeneous. Let $T_i = [a, b]$ be essential as a submodule and recall that T_i^+ is a direct summand of T since Q is a Dynkin quiver. Our first goal is to show that $U_i = T_i / \operatorname{tr}_{T[i] \oplus T_B} T_i$ is indecomposable and to describe its position on the Auslander-Reiten quiver.

By the observation above T contains an indecomposable direct summand $T_j = [a, \tilde{b}]$ with $\tilde{b} > b$ lying below T_i on the same downward diagonal D_a of the Auslander-Reiten quiver. Moreover, every indecomposable direct summand of $T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B$ contributing to the trace $\operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i$ lies on D_a above T_i : This is obvious in case T_i and T_j are projective. Otherwise, this follows from the fact that there is no indecomposable direct summand of $T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B$ lying in the rectangle (marked in red) with vertices $\tau T_j = [a-1, \tilde{b}-1]$, S(a-1), P(a-1) and $P(\tilde{b}-1)$ as $\operatorname{Ext}(T_j, T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B) = 0$, see figure 1. Consequently, if there is no indecomposable direct summand of $T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B$ lying on D_a above T_i , then $U_i = T_i$. Otherwise, the trace $\operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i$ is given by the indecomposable direct summand of $T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B$ on D_a above T_i closest to T_i , i.e. $\operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i = [a, c-1]$ for some c > a. This implies that $U_i = [c, b]$ is indecomposable and its position on the Auslander-Reiten quiver is therefore obtained by a rectangle whose upper vertex exceeds the Auslander-Reiten quiver by one unit, see figure 1.



Figure 1: The Auslander-Reiten quiver for the equioriented Dynkin quiver of type \mathbb{A}_n

Furthermore, according to Theorem 3.1 a representation $X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ is in \mathcal{C}_i if and only if X contains an indecomposable direct summand V such that $\operatorname{Ext}(V, U_i) \neq 0$. In terms of the Auslander-Reiten quiver this means V is one of the representations in the rectangle (marked in green) with vertices $\tau^{-1}U_i$, I(c+1), I(b+1) and S(b+1). Thus, X contains such a direct summand V if and only if there is a homomorphism from X to I(b+1) which does not factor through I(c). Of course, this is exactly the condition rk $g_i < \dim \operatorname{Hom}(X, I(b+1))$ stated in section 3.1, where $g_i : \operatorname{Hom}(X, I(c)) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(X, I(b+1))$ is obtained by mapping X to

$$0 \longrightarrow U_i \longrightarrow I(c) \longrightarrow I(b+1) \longrightarrow 0,$$

which is an injective resolution of U_i . As explained in section 3.1, this is equivalent to the condition $\operatorname{rk} X(g_i) < d_{b+1}$, where

$$X(g_i) = X(\alpha_c) \circ X(\alpha_{c+1}) \circ \cdots \circ X(\alpha_b) \colon k^{d_{b+1}} \longrightarrow k^{d_c}.$$

Indeed, $\operatorname{rk} X(g_i) < d_{b+1}$ if and only if X contains a direct summand [d, e] such that $b+1 \leq e$ and $c+1 \leq d \leq b+1$, which is the case if and only if $\operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i = [c, b]) \neq 0$.

As already mentioned, this example has been studied before by K. Baur and L. Hille in [4]. In the remaining part of this section we recall their result and compare it with ours. Denoting (for i' < j') by $X_{(i',j')}$ the map

$$X_{(i',j')} = X(\alpha_{i'}) \circ X(\alpha_{i'+1}) \circ \cdots \circ X(\alpha_{j'-1}) \colon k^{d_{j'}} \longrightarrow k^{d_{i'}}$$

(and setting $d_0 := 0$ for convenience) K. Baur and L. Hille proved in particular the following statement: For each pair $(i', j') \in Q_0^2$ satisfying

- i) i' < j' and $d_{i'} > d_{j'}$,
- ii) $d_{l'} > d_{i'}$ for all i' < l' < j',
- iii) $d_{l'} \ge d_{i'}$ for all m' < l' < i', where m' < i' is the maximal index with $d_{m'} < d_{j'}$

the set

$$Y_{i',j'} := \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{rk} X_{(i',j')} < d_{j'} \}$$

is an irreducible component of codimension $d_{i'} - d_{j'} + 1$.

Our goal is to show that such a component is the irreducible component corresponding to a suitable T_i which is essential as a submodule and that the rank conditions $\operatorname{rk} X_{(i',j')} < d_{j'}$ and $\operatorname{rk} X(g_i) < d_{b+1}$ coincide. Note that K. Baur and L. Hille also proved a dual statement, which corresponds to the case where T_i is essential as a quotient.

In order to obtain such inequalities for the entries of the dimension vector and to understand the roles of i' and j' in terms of our point of view we determine in figure 2 more carefully the positions of the indecomposable direct summands of T on the Auslander-Reiten quiver in case $T_i = [a, b]$ is essential as a submodule. Recall that the source map from T_i to add $T[\hat{i}]$ is denoted by $f_i^+: T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+$. We consider the general case where $T_i^+ = T_j \oplus T_k$ consists of two indecomposable direct summands, namely $T_j = [a, \tilde{b}]$ for some $\tilde{b} > b$ and $T_k = [\tilde{c} + 1, b]$ for some $\tilde{c} < b$. Note that the case where $T_i^+ = T_j$ is indecomposable may be seen as a special case of this by allowing T_k to be a 'virtual representation' exceeding the Auslander-Reiten quiver by one unit. We denote the upward diagonal through T_i by D_b . By definition of the source map f_i^+ there is no indecomposable direct summand of T lying on D_b between T_i and T_k . We indicate this on the Auslander-Reiten quiver by a dotted red line. Moreover, there may be indecomposable direct summands of T on the downward diagonal D_a above T_i . We denote by $T_l = [a, d - 1]$ the one closest to T_i and indicate this by a dotted red line between T_l and T_i . Again, the case where there is no such direct summand corresponds to the case where T_l is a 'virtual representation'. Using $\text{Ext}(T \oplus T_B, T \oplus T_B) = 0$ we additionally obtain up to four red rectangles where there is no indecomposable direct summand of $T \oplus T_B$. In figure 2 we draw the general case where there are four actual rectangles. Note however that all of them may possibly have width zero (i.e. may be just lines) and that only the one corresponding to $\tau^{-1}T_i$ exists in any case.



Figure 2: The indecomposable direct summands of T on the Auslander-Reiten quiver

For a vertex $x \in Q_0$ the value of d_x is given by the sum of the multiplicities of those indecomposable direct summands of T which lie in the rectangle with vertices S(x), I(x), P(n) and P(x). Identifying $i' := \tilde{c}$ and j' := b + 1 we therefore see that the dimension vector \mathbf{d} satisfies $d_{i'} > d_{j'}$ as on the one hand T_i is supported at \tilde{c} but not at b + 1 and on the other hand any other direct summand of T supported at b + 1 is also supported at \tilde{c} . Note that in particular this implies $d_{i'} - d_{j'} + 1 = \lambda_i + 1$. Similarly, we have $d_{l'} > d_{i'}$ for all i' < l' < j'. Moreover, $d_{a-1} < d_{b+1}$ and $d_a, d_{a+1}, \cdots d_{\tilde{c}-1} \ge d_{b+1}$, which means the maximal index m' < i' with $d_{m'} < d_{j'}$ is m' = a - 1. Hence the condition $d_{l'} \ge d_{i'}$ for all m' < l' < i' is satisfied as well because $d_a, d_{a+1}, \ldots, d_{\tilde{c}-1} \ge d_{\tilde{c}}$. The irreducible component $Y_{i',j'}$ is thus given by $Y_{i',j'} = \{X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{rk} X_{(\tilde{c},b+1)} < d_{b+1}\}$. In order to prove that this is the component C_i it is therefore enough to show that $\tilde{c} = c$, i.e. that U_i lies on D_b just below T_k . This is the case if and only if the trace $\operatorname{tr}_T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i$ equals $[a, \tilde{c} - 1]$. Of course we are done if $T_l = [a, \tilde{c} - 1]$, so we assume (as in figure 2) that T_l lies above $[a, \tilde{c} - 1]$ and we have to show that $[a, \tilde{c} - 1]$ is an indecomposable direct summand of T_B . It is easy to see that the indecomposable representation $Z := [d, \tilde{c} - 1]$ lies in T^{\perp} . Moreover, if $\text{Ext}(Z, [x, y]) \neq 0$ for some indecomposable representation [x, y], then $\text{Hom}(T_l, [x, y]) \neq 0$ in case $a \leq x$ and $\text{Ext}(T_j, [x, y]) \neq 0$ otherwise, hence $[x, y] \notin T^{\perp}$. This proves that Z is projective in T^{\perp} and thus there is an indecomposable direct summand T_m of T_B such that $T_m/\operatorname{tr}_T T_m = Z$ (see section 3.2), which is only possible if T_m equals $[a, \tilde{c} - 1]$.

3.4 The inclusion $\mathcal{W}_i \subseteq \mathcal{E}_i$

We now return to the general case where Q is any tame quiver and $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ any prehomogeneous dimension vector such that T_i^+ is a direct summand of T for T_i essential as a submodule. Recall that the representation U_i is defined as $U_i = T_i/\operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}]\oplus T_B} T_i$, where T_B denotes the Bongartz completion of T, and \mathcal{E}_i is the set $\mathcal{E}_i = \{X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0\}$. Moreover, \mathcal{W}_i is the closure of the orbit of $W_i = T_i^{\lambda_i+1} \oplus Y_i \oplus R_i$, where Y_i is the cokernel of the injective source map $f_i^+: T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+$ from T_i to add $T[\hat{i}]$ and R_i is given by $T[\hat{i}] = T_i^+ \oplus R_i$. In this section we prove that \mathcal{W}_i is contained in \mathcal{E}_i . Note that \mathcal{E}_i is a closed subset of $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ as explained in section 3.1.

Lemma 3.7. The module U_i is the unique indecomposable representation in $(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)^{\perp}$ and satisfies $\text{Ext}(T_i, U_i) = 0$ and $\dim \text{Hom}(T_i, U_i) = 1$. In particular, if $x \in Q_0$ is a source of Q, then U_i is different from S(x).

Proof: The source map from T_i to $\operatorname{add}(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)$ is injective since there is an injection from T_i to $\operatorname{add} T[\hat{i}]$. According to Lemma 3.2 i) the sink map $h_i: A \longrightarrow T_i$ from $\operatorname{add}(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)$ to T_i is then injective as well. This means (see section 3.2) that T_i is the Bongartz completion of $T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B$ and hence $U_i = T_i / \operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i$ is the unique indecomposable (projective) representation in $(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)^{\perp}$ (see section 3.2). Moreover, $\operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i = \operatorname{im} h_i \cong A \in \operatorname{add}(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)$ implies $\operatorname{Ext}(T_i, \operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i) = 0$ as well as $\operatorname{Hom}(T_i, \operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i) = 0$ and we find $\operatorname{Ext}(T_i, U_i) = 0$ and $\operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Hom}(T_i, U_i) = 1$ by mapping T_i to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_P} T_i \longrightarrow T_i \longrightarrow U_i \longrightarrow 0.$$

For the last statement we compute

$$\langle \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \mathbf{T}, \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \mathbf{U}_i \rangle = \operatorname{\mathrm{dim}} \operatorname{Hom}(T, U_i) - \operatorname{\mathrm{dim}} \operatorname{Ext}(T, U_i) = \lambda_i$$

and suppose towards a contradiction that U_i equals S(x) for some source x of Q. This implies $\lambda_i = \langle \operatorname{dim} \mathbf{T}, \mathbf{e_x} \rangle = d_x$ and hence $T_i(x)$ must be zero as T_i is essential as a submodule. Thus $0 = \operatorname{Hom}(T_i, S(x)) = \operatorname{Hom}(T_i, U_i)$, a contradiction. \Box As a consequence we obtain the following

Corollary 3.8. The set W_i is contained in \mathcal{E}_i .

Proof: Applying $Hom(\cdot, U_i)$ to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+ \longrightarrow Y_i \longrightarrow 0$$

yields dim $\operatorname{Ext}(Y_i, U_i) = 1$ by Lemma 3.7 and therefore $\overline{\operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot W_i} \subseteq \mathcal{E}_i$, since this set is closed. \Box

3.5 Reflections

Recall that a vertex $z \in Q_0$ is called sink if there is no arrow in Q_1 with tail z but there are $s \ge 1$ arrows $\alpha_j : y_j \longrightarrow z$, $j = 1, \ldots, s$ with head z. For a sink $z \in Q_0$ we denote by zQ the quiver obtained from Q by reversing the arrows $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s$. The reflection functors $R_z^+ : \mod Q \longrightarrow \mod zQ$ and $R_z^- : \mod zQ \longrightarrow \mod Q$ restrict to inverse equivalences between $(\mod Q)'$ and $(\mod zQ)'$, the full subcategories of $\mod Q$ and $\mod zQ$ whose objects do not contain S(z) as a direct summand. Moreover, any representations $X \in (\mod Q)'$ and $Y \in (\mod zQ)'$ satisfy $\dim R_z^+ X = r_z(\dim X)$ and $\dim R_z^- Y = r_z(\dim Y)$, respectively, where $r_z : \mathbb{N}_0^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{N}_0^n$ is given by $r_z(\mathbf{x})_y = \sum_{j=1}^s x_{y_j} - x_z$ if y = z and $r_z(\mathbf{x})_y = x_y$ otherwise. [9]

3.5.1 Reflection at a sink

Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink of Q and assume $\Delta(z) > 0$. Recall from Remark 3.5 and Remark 3.6 that S(z) cannot be a direct summand of $T \oplus T_B$. In particular

$$\dim \operatorname{Ext}(R_z^+T, R_z^+T) = \dim \operatorname{Ext}(T, T) = 0,$$

so the dimension vector $r_z(\mathbf{d})$ is prehomogeneous and the orbit of R_z^+T is the open orbit in Rep $(zQ, r_z(\mathbf{d}))$. Moreover, $R_z^+T_i$ is essential as a submodule because R_z^+ preserves injections and dim $(R_z^+T)(z) = \Delta(z) > 0$ ensures $r_z(\mathbf{d})$ is sincere. Applying Hom $(\cdot, S(z))$ to the exact sequence

 $0 \longrightarrow T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+ \longrightarrow Y_i \longrightarrow 0$

yields $Y_i \in (\text{mod } Q)'$ and hence the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow R_z^+ T_i \longrightarrow R_z^+ T_i^+ \longrightarrow R_z^+ Y_i \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact in mod zQ. Since $R_z^+ f_i^+ \colon R_z^+ T_i \longrightarrow R_z^+ T_i^+$ is exactly the source map from $R_z^+ T_i$ to add $R_z^+ T[\hat{i}]$ the representation $W_i^+ \coloneqq W_i(R_z^+ T_i)$ equals $R_z^+ W_i$.

Lemma 3.9. Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink of Q such that $\Delta(z) > 0$. The Bongartz completion of R_z^+T is $R_z^+T_B$ and $U_i^+ := R_z^+T_i / \operatorname{tr}_{R_z^+(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)} R_z^+T_i$ equals $R_z^+U_i$.

Proof: The representation $R_z^+(T \oplus T_B)$ contains exactly n pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposable direct summands and $\operatorname{Ext}(R_z^+(T \oplus T_B), R_z^+(T \oplus T_B)) = 0$. Moreover, the sink map $f_j: T_j^- \longrightarrow T_j$ from $\operatorname{add}(T \oplus T_B[\hat{j}])$ to T_j is injective for $j = r+1, \ldots, n$ because T_B is the Bongartz completion of T (see section 3.2). Thus for $j = r+1, \ldots, n$ the sink map from $\operatorname{add}(R_z^+(T \oplus T_B[\hat{j}]))$ to $R_z^+T_j$ is injective as well, since it is precisely the map $R_z^+f_j: R_z^+T_j^- \longrightarrow R_z^+T_j$ and hence $R_z^+T_B$ is the Bongartz completion of R_z^+T (see section 3.2).

For the second statement, note that $U_i \neq S(z)$ since dim Hom $(T_i, U_i) = 1$ by Lemma 3.7. Hence the representation $R_z^+ U_i$ is the unique indecomposable representation in $(R_z^+(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B))^{\perp}$ by Lemma 3.7, but so is U_i^+ .

3.5.2 Reflection at a source

Let $x \in Q_0$ be a source of Q and assume $\Delta(x) > 0$ and $Y_i \neq S(x)$. The representation S(x) cannot be a direct summand of $T \oplus T_B$ and the orbit of $R_x^- T$ is the open orbit in Rep $(Qx, r_x(\mathbf{d}))$. Moreover, the dimension vector $r_x(\mathbf{d})$ is sincere.

The assumption $Y_i \neq S(x)$ implies the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow R_x^- T_i \longrightarrow R_x^- T_i^+ \longrightarrow R_x^- Y_i \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact in mod Qx and thus $R_x^-T_i$ is essential as a submodule since there is an injection from $R_x^-T_i$ to add $R_x^-T[\hat{i}]$. More precisely, $W_i^- = R_x^-W_i$, where $W_i^- := W_i(R_x^-T_i)$.

Lemma 3.10. Let $x \in Q_0$ be a source of Q such that $\Delta(x) > 0$. The Bongartz completion of R_x^-T is $R_x^-T_B$ and $U_i^- := R_x^-T_i/\operatorname{tr}_{R_x^-(T[\hat{i}]\oplus T_B)} R_x^-T_i$ equals $R_x^-U_i$.

Proof: Let T_B^- be the Bongartz completion of R_x^-T . The vertex x is a sink of the quiver Qx and satisfies $\Delta_{Qx}(x) = \sum_{j=1}^s r_x(\mathbf{d})(y_j) - r_x(\mathbf{d})(x) = d_x > 0$. According to Lemma 3.9 the Bongartz completion of $R_x^+R_x^-T = T$ is thus $T_B = R_x^+T_B^-$, which implies $T_B^- = R_x^-R_x^+T_B^- = R_x^-T_B$. Moreover, $R_x^-U_i$ is the unique indecomposable representation in $(R_x^-T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B^-)^{\perp}$ according to Lemma 3.7, but so is U_i^- .

3.6 Perpendicular Categories

3.6.1 Cutting out a sink

Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink of Q and denote by $Q[\hat{z}]$ the quiver obtained from Q by deleting the vertex z and the arrows $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s$. For $M \in \text{mod } Q$ we define the representation $M[\hat{z}] \in \text{mod } Q[\hat{z}]$ as the restriction of M to $Q[\hat{z}]$ and for a morphism $f \colon M_1 \longrightarrow M_2$ we define $f[\hat{z}]$ as the restriction of f to $M_1[\hat{z}]$. Conversely, we define a functor $F \colon \text{mod } Q[\hat{z}] \longrightarrow \text{mod } Q$ in the following way: For a representation $N \in \text{mod } Q[\hat{z}]$ we let F(N)(y) = N(y) for $y \neq z$ and $F(N)(\alpha) = N(\alpha)$ for $\alpha \neq \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s$. Moreover we set $F(N)(z) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^s N(y_j)$ and let $F(N)(\alpha_l) \colon N(y_l) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=1}^s N(y_j)$ be the inclusion for $l = 1, \ldots, s$. For a morphism $f = (f_j)_{j \in Q_0 \setminus \{z\}} \colon N_1 \longrightarrow N_2$ we define $F(f)_y = f_y$ for $y \neq z$ and $F(f)_z = f_{y_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus f_{y_s} \colon \bigoplus_{j=1}^s N_1(y_j) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=1}^s N_2(y_j)$.

It is easy to verify that $\mod Q[\hat{z}]$ is equivalent (via these functors) to the full subcategory of $\mod Q$ whose objects have the property that

$$(M(\alpha_1),\ldots,M(\alpha_s)): \bigoplus_{j=1}^s M(y_j) \longrightarrow M(z)$$

is an isomorphism. Note that a representation $M \in \text{mod} Q$ lies in this subcategory if and only if $\dim M(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{s} \dim M(y_j)$ and M does not contain S(z) as a direct summand, which is the case if and only if M lies in $^{\perp}S(z)$. Furthermore, the two functors are adjoint by construction and hence

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_Q(F(N), M) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{Q[\hat{z}]}(N, M[\hat{z}])$$
(2)

for $M \in \text{mod } Q$ and $N \in \text{mod } Q[\hat{z}]$.

We suppose $\Delta(z) \leq 0$ and set $\mathbf{d}' := \mathbf{d} + \Delta(z) \cdot \mathbf{e_z}$. Note that every representation $M \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ is of the form $M = M' \oplus S(z)^{-\Delta(z)}$ for a representation $M' \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}')$, as any indecomposable representation $M \neq S(z)$ satisfies $\dim M(z) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{s} \dim M(y_j)$. In particular, the open orbit in $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ is given by $T = T' \oplus S(z)^{-\Delta(z)}$ and thus \mathbf{d}' is prehomogeneous as well. By definition of \mathbf{d}' and according to Remark 3.5 the representation S(z) is not a direct summand of T' and hence $T' \in {}^{\perp}S(z)$.

Lemma 3.11. Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink of Q such that $\Delta(z) \leq 0$. The Bongartz completion of $T = T' \oplus S(z)^{-\Delta(z)}$ is given by

$$T_B = \begin{cases} T'_B, & \text{if } \Delta(z) < 0, \\ T'_B \oplus S(z), & \text{if } \Delta(z) = 0, \end{cases}$$

where T'_B denotes the Bongartz completion of T' in $^{\perp}S(z)$.

Proof: In case $\Delta(z) = 0$ the representation S(z) is a direct summand of T_B according to Remark 3.6. Thus S(z) is a direct summand of $T \oplus T_B$ in both cases and hence $\operatorname{Ext}(T \oplus T_B, S(z)) = 0$. This implies $(T \oplus T_B)[\widehat{S(z)}] \in {}^{\perp}S(z)$ and it remains to show that

$$\begin{cases} T_B, & \text{if } \Delta(z) < 0, \\ T_B[\widehat{S(z)}], & \text{if } \Delta(z) = 0 \end{cases}$$

is the Bongartz completion of T' in ${}^{\perp}S(z)$. Let $\Delta(z) < 0$ and let T_j be an indecomposable direct summand of T_B . The sink map from $\operatorname{add}(T \oplus T_B[\hat{j}])$ to T_j is injective (see section 3.2) and the sink map from $\operatorname{add}(T' \oplus T_B[\hat{j}])$ to T_j factors through this map and therefore cannot be surjective, hence (see section 3.2) it is injective. Similarly, if $\Delta(z) = 0$ and T_j is an indecomposable direct summand of $T_B[\widehat{S(z)}]$ the sink map from $\operatorname{add}(T' \oplus (T_B[\hat{j}])[\widehat{S(z)}])$ to T_j factors through the sink map from $\operatorname{add}(T' \oplus T_B[\hat{j}])$, which is injective. \Box

Let us suppose $T_i \neq S(z)$. The source map from T_i to add $T'[\hat{i}]$ is isomorphic to the source map from T_i to add $T[\hat{i}]$ and thus T_i is essential as a submodule for $T'[\hat{i}]$ and

 $0 \longrightarrow T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+ \longrightarrow Y_i \longrightarrow 0$

is exact in ${}^{\perp}S(z)$. Moreover, the representation $W'_i := T_i^{\lambda_i+1} \oplus Y_i \oplus R'_i$, where R'_i is given by $T'[\hat{i}] = T_i^+ \oplus R'_i$, lies in ${}^{\perp}S(z)$ and satisfies $W_i = W'_i \oplus S(z)^{-\Delta(z)}$. Note that U_i does not lie in ${}^{\perp}S(z)$ in general.

The equivalence of ${}^{\perp}S(z) \subseteq \mod Q$ and $\mod Q[\hat{z}]$ described above thus implies the dimension vector $\mathbf{d}[\hat{\mathbf{z}}] := (d_1, \ldots, d_{z-1}, d_{z+1}, \ldots, d_n) \in \mathbb{N}^{n-1}$ is prehomogeneous since the orbit of $T[\hat{z}]$ is open in Rep $(Q[\hat{z}], \mathbf{d}[\hat{\mathbf{z}}])$. Moreover, $T_i[\hat{z}]$ is essential as a submodule, the source map from $T_i[\hat{z}]$ to add $T[\hat{i}][\hat{z}]$ is the map $f_i^+[\hat{z}]: T_i[\hat{z}] \longrightarrow T_i^+[\hat{z}]$ and

$$0 \longrightarrow T_i[\hat{z}] \longrightarrow T_i^+[\hat{z}] \longrightarrow Y_i[\hat{z}] \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact.

Lemma 3.12. Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink such that $\Delta(z) \leq 0$ and assume $T_i \neq S(z)$. The Bongartz completion of $T[\hat{z}]$ is $T_B[\hat{z}]$, the representation U_i satisfies dim $U_i(z) = 0$ and $T_i[\hat{z}]/\operatorname{tr}_{(T[\hat{i}]\oplus T_B)[\hat{z}]}T_i[\hat{z}]$ equals $U_i[\hat{z}]$.

Proof: The first statement follows directly from Lemma 3.11. Moreover, $U_i(z) = 0$ as S(z) is a direct summand of $T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B$. In particular, $U_i[\hat{z}]$ is indecomposable and in view of Lemma 3.7 it remains to prove $U_i[\hat{z}] \in ((T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)[\hat{z}])^{\perp}$. Since $U_i(z) = 0$ we have

$$\langle \dim M, \dim U_i
angle_Q = \langle \dim M[\hat{z}], \dim U_i[\hat{z}]
angle_{Q[\hat{z}]}$$

and dim Hom (M, U_i) = dim Hom $(M[\hat{z}], U_i[\hat{z}])$ for any representation M of Q. Consequently, dim Hom $((T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)[\hat{z}], U_i[\hat{z}])$ = dim Hom $(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B, U_i) = 0$ and

$$\dim \operatorname{Ext}((T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)[\hat{z}], U_i[\hat{z}]) = -\langle \operatorname{dim} (T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)[\hat{z}], \operatorname{dim} U_i[\hat{z}] \rangle_{Q[\hat{z}]} \\ = -\langle \operatorname{dim} T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B, \operatorname{dim} U_i \rangle_Q = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ext}(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B, U_i) = 0$$

according to Lemma 3.7.

Proposition 3.13. Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink such that $\Delta(z) \leq 0$ and assume $T_i \neq S(z)$. If Theorem 3.4 holds true for the pair (Rep $(Q[\hat{z}], \mathbf{d}[\hat{z}]), T_i[\hat{z}])$, then $\mathcal{W}_i = \mathcal{E}_i$.

Proof: Let $X = X' \oplus S(z)^{-\Delta(z)} \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ satisfy $\operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0$. It is enough to prove that X' is a degeneration of W'_i since then $W_i = W'_i \oplus S(z)^{-\Delta(z)} \leq_{\operatorname{deg}} X' \oplus S(z)^{-\Delta(z)} = X$. In order to do so, we first prove that we may assume w.l.o.g. $X' \in {}^{\perp}S(z)$. Decomposing $X' = X'' \oplus S(z)^{\mu}$ such that S(z) is not a direct summand of X'' we obtain the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow S(z)^{\mu} \longrightarrow F(X''[\hat{z}]) \longrightarrow X'' \longrightarrow 0.$$

Since $F(X''[\hat{z}]) = F(X'[\hat{z}])$ this implies X' is a degeneration of $F(X'[\hat{z}])$. Moreover, applying $\operatorname{Hom}(\cdot, U_i)$ and using $U_i(z) = 0$ yields $\operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ext}(F(X'[\hat{z}]), U_i) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ext}(X'', U_i) \neq 0$ and hence we may suppose w.l.o.g. $X' \in {}^{\perp}S(z)$.

Furthermore, $U_i(z) = 0$ implies dim $\operatorname{Ext}(X'[\hat{z}], U_i[\hat{z}]) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ext}(X', U_i) \neq 0$. Hence $X'[\hat{z}]$ is a degeneration of $W'_i[\hat{z}]$ according to Lemma 3.12 and the assumption. Since $Q[\hat{z}]$ is still a tame quiver this is equivalent to $W'_i[\hat{z}] \leq_{\text{hom}} X'[\hat{z}]$ (see section 3.2). Using $W'_i, X' \in {}^{\perp}S(z)$ and (2) thus implies

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{Q}(W'_{i}, M) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{Q}(F(W'_{i}[\hat{z}]), M) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{Q[\hat{z}]}(W'_{i}[\hat{z}], M[\hat{z}])$$
$$\leq \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{Q[\hat{z}]}(X'[\hat{z}], M[\hat{z}]) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{Q}(F(X'[\hat{z}]), M)$$
$$= \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{Q}(X', M)$$

for all indecomposable representations $M \in \text{mod } Q$. Therefore $W'_i \leq_{\text{hom}} X'$ and consequently $W'_i \leq_{\text{deg}} X'$ (see section 3.2) as desired. \Box

3.6.2 Cutting out a source

Let $x \in Q_0$ be a source of Q and denote by $Q[\hat{x}]$ the quiver obtained from Q by deleting the vertex x and the arrows $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s$. The following construction is analogous to the one in section 3.6.1: For $M \in \text{mod } Q$ we define the representation $M[\hat{x}] \in \text{mod } Q[\hat{x}]$ as the restriction of M to $Q[\hat{x}]$ and for a morphism $f \colon M_1 \longrightarrow M_2$ we define $f[\hat{x}]$ as the restriction of f to $M_1[\hat{x}]$. Conversely, we define a functor $G \colon \text{mod } Q[\hat{x}] \longrightarrow \text{mod } Q$ in the following way: For a representation $N \in \text{mod } Q[\hat{x}]$ we let G(N)(y) = N(y) for $y \neq x$ and $G(N)(\alpha) = N(\alpha)$ for $\alpha \neq \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s$. Moreover we set $G(N)(x) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^s N(y_j)$ and let $G(N)(\alpha_l) \colon \bigoplus_{j=1}^s N(y_j) \longrightarrow N(y_l)$ be the projection for $l = 1, \ldots, s$. For a morphism $f = (f_j)_{j \in Q_0 \setminus \{x\}} \colon N_1 \longrightarrow N_2$ we define $G(f)_y = f_y$ for $y \neq x$ and $G(f)_x = f_{y_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus f_{y_s} \colon \bigoplus_{j=1}^s N_1(y_j) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=1}^s N_2(y_j)$.

The category $\operatorname{mod} Q[\hat{x}]$ is equivalent (via these functors) to the category $S(x)^{\perp} \subseteq \operatorname{mod} Q$ and

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{Q}(M, G(N)) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{Q[\hat{x}]}(M[\hat{x}], N)$$

for $M \in \text{mod} Q$ and $N \in \text{mod} Q[\hat{x}]$.

We suppose $\Delta(x) \leq 0$ and $Y_i \neq S(x)$. Note that T_i is different from S(x) as well since it is essential as a submodule.

Setting $\mathbf{d}' := \mathbf{d} + \Delta(x) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{x}}$ every representation $M \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ is of the form $M = M' \oplus S(x)^{-\Delta(x)}$ for a representation $M' \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}')$. In particular, \mathbf{d}' is prehomogeneous, $T = T' \oplus S(x)^{-\Delta(x)}$ and $T' \in S(x)^{\perp}$. Moreover, mapping S(x) to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+ \longrightarrow Y_i \longrightarrow 0$$

implies $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), Y_i) = 0$ and hence $Y_i \in S(x)^{\perp}$ as $Y_i \neq S(x)$ by assumption. Therefore, this sequence is exact in $S(x)^{\perp}$ and $f_i^+: T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+$ is the source map from T_i to $\operatorname{add} T'$ in $S(x)^{\perp}$. Furthermore, the representation $W'_i := T_i^{\lambda_i+1} \oplus Y_i \oplus R'_i$, where R'_i is given by $T'[\hat{i}] = T_i^+ \oplus R'_i$, satisfies $W_i = W'_i \oplus S(x)^{-\Delta(x)}$.

Lemma 3.14. Let $x \in Q_0$ be a source such that $\Delta(x) \leq 0$. The Bongartz completion T_B of $T = T' \oplus S(x)^{-\Delta(x)}$ is given by

$$T_B = \begin{cases} T'_B \oplus T_n, & \text{if } \Delta(x) = 0, \\ T'_B, & \text{if } \Delta(x) < 0, \end{cases}$$

where T'_B is the Bongartz completion of T' in $S(x)^{\perp}$ and T_n is the Bongartz completion of $T' \oplus T'_B$ in mod Q. Moreover, $U'_i := T_i / \operatorname{tr}_{T'[\hat{i}] \oplus T'_D} T_i$ equals U_i .

Proof: The second statement follows immediately from the first one. Indeed, mapping S(x) to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B} T_i \longrightarrow T_i \longrightarrow U_i \longrightarrow 0$$

implies $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), U_i) = 0$ and hence $U_i \in S(x)^{\perp}$ as $U_i \neq S(x)$ by Lemma 3.7. Moreover, U_i lies

in $(T'[\hat{i}] \oplus T'_B)^{\perp}$ by the first statement and Lemma 3.7 and is thus identical to U'_i .

In order to prove the first statement, we first consider the case $\Delta(x) = 0$. By definition of T_n the sink map from add $(T' \oplus T'_B)$ to T_n is injective (see section 3.2) and it remains to prove the sink map from $\operatorname{add}(T' \oplus T_n \oplus T'_B[\hat{j}])$ to T'_j is injective as well for any indecomposable direct summand T'_j of T'_B . As the sink map from $\operatorname{add}(T' \oplus T'_B[\hat{j}])$ to T'_j is injective by definition of T'_B , the representation T'_j is the Bongartz completion of $T' \oplus T'_B[\hat{j}]$ in $S(x)^{\perp}$. Thus the source map from T'_j to $\operatorname{add}(T' \oplus T'_B[\hat{j}])$ is injective according to Lemma 3.2 ii). Since this map factors through the source map from T'_j to $\operatorname{add}(T' \oplus T_n \oplus T'_B[\hat{j}])$, the latter must be injective as well and Lemma 3.2 i) finishes the proof in this case.

In case $\Delta(x) < 0$ the representation $T \oplus T'_B$ contains n pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposable direct summands and satisfies $\operatorname{Ext}(T \oplus T'_B, T \oplus T'_B) = 0$. Moreover, for an indecomposable direct summand T'_j of T'_B the source map from T'_j to $\operatorname{add}(T' \oplus T'_B[\hat{j}])$ is injective as we have seen above. Hence the sink map from $\operatorname{add}(T' \oplus T'_B[\hat{j}])$ to T'_j is injective by Lemma 3.2 i) and since this map is isomorphic to the sink map from $\operatorname{add}(T \oplus T'_B[\hat{j}])$ to T'_j the assertion follows. \Box

Proposition 3.15. Let $x \in Q_0$ be a source such that $\Delta(x) \leq 0$ and assume $Y_i \neq S(x)$. If Theorem 3.4 holds true for the pair (Rep $(Q[\hat{x}], \mathbf{d}[\hat{\mathbf{x}}]), T_i[\hat{x}])$, then $\mathcal{W}_i = \mathcal{E}_i$.

Proof: Let $X = X' \oplus S(x)^{-\Delta(x)}$ satisfy $\operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0$. As in the proof of Proposition 3.13 it is enough to prove that X' is a degeneration of W'_i and we first show we may assume w.l.o.g. $X' \in S(x)^{\perp}$. Let $X' = X'' \oplus S(x)^{\mu}$ be a decomposition such that S(x) is not a direct summand of X''. We have seen in the beginning of the proof of Lemma 3.14 that $U_i \in S(x)^{\perp}$ and hence $\operatorname{Ext}(X'', U_i) \neq 0$. By definition of G there is an inclusion $X'' \hookrightarrow G(X''[\hat{x}]) = G(X'[\hat{x}])$, i.e. there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow X'' \longrightarrow G(X'[\hat{x}]) \longrightarrow S(x)^{\mu} \longrightarrow 0$$

and thus X' is a degeneration of $G(X'[\hat{x}])$. Since applying $\operatorname{Hom}(\cdot, U_i)$ yields $\operatorname{Ext}(G(X'[\hat{x}]), U_i) \neq 0$ we may thus suppose w.l.o.g. $X' \in S(x)^{\perp}$.

Furthermore, dim $\operatorname{Ext}(X'[\hat{x}], U'_i[\hat{x}]) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ext}(X', U'_i) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ext}(X', U_i) \neq 0$ by Lemma 3.14 and hence $X'[\hat{x}]$ is a degeneration of $W'_i[\hat{z}]$ by assumption. The rest of the proof is analogous to the proof of Proposition 3.13.

3.7 Proof of the Theorem

In this section, we prove Theorem 3.4. Recall that \mathcal{W}_i denotes the closure of the orbit of W_i and that the inclusion $\mathcal{W}_i \subseteq \mathcal{E}_i$ has already been proved in section 3.4. For the other inclusion, we start with the following observation: Increasing the multiplicities $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r$ does not change the representations T_B , U_i , T_i^+ and Y_i , provided T_i^+ is a direct summand of T. This trivial remark turns out to be very useful, as it allows us to restrict ourselves to 'large' multiplicities, which is helpful as we will see.

In the following Lemma we prove it is enough to consider the case where the multiplicities are 'large enough'. More precisely, we call a multiplicity vector $\boldsymbol{\mu} := (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r) \in \mathbb{N}^r$ admissible (for

 T_i) if T_i^+ is a direct summand of

$$T(\boldsymbol{\mu}) := \bigoplus_{j=1}^r T_j^{\mu_j}.$$

For an admissible multiplicity vector $\boldsymbol{\mu} \in \mathbb{N}^r$ we set

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{d}(\boldsymbol{\mu}) &:= \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \boldsymbol{T}(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = \sum_{j=1}^{r} \mu_{j} \cdot \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \boldsymbol{T_{j}}, \\ \mathcal{E}_{i}\left(\boldsymbol{\mu}\right) &:= \{X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}(\boldsymbol{\mu})) \colon \operatorname{Ext}(X, U_{i}) \neq 0\}, \\ \mathcal{W}_{i}(\boldsymbol{\mu}) &:= \overline{\operatorname{GL}\left(\mathbf{d}(\boldsymbol{\mu})\right)} \cdot W_{i}(\boldsymbol{\mu}), \\ W_{i}(\boldsymbol{\mu}) &:= T_{i}^{\mu_{i}+1} \oplus Y_{i} \oplus R_{i}(\boldsymbol{\mu}), \end{split}$$

where $R_i(\boldsymbol{\mu})$ is given by $T(\boldsymbol{\mu})[\hat{i}] = T_i^+ \oplus R_i(\boldsymbol{\mu})$. Moreover, for $\boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\rho} \in \mathbb{N}^r$ we write $\boldsymbol{\mu} \geq \boldsymbol{\rho}$ if and only if $\mu_j \geq \rho_j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, r$.

Lemma 3.16. Assume there is an admissible multiplicity vector $\boldsymbol{\rho} \in \mathbb{N}^r$ such that $\mathcal{W}_i(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = \mathcal{E}_i(\boldsymbol{\mu})$ holds true for all $\boldsymbol{\mu} \geq \boldsymbol{\rho}$. Then $\mathcal{W}_i(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = \mathcal{E}_i(\boldsymbol{\mu})$ holds true for an arbitrary admissible multiplicity vector $\boldsymbol{\mu} \in \mathbb{N}^r$.

Proof: Let $\mu \in \mathbb{N}^r$ be an arbitrary admissible multiplicity vector and let $X \in \mathcal{E}_i(\mu)$ be any representation. The idea of the proof is to add a representation in add T to X such that the premise of the Lemma may be used. Technically, we set $\nu_j := \max{\{\mu_j, \rho_j\}}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, r$ and $\nu := (\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_r)$. Clearly, this implies $\nu \ge \rho$. The representation

$$X(\boldsymbol{\nu}) := X \oplus \bigoplus_{j=1}^{r} T_{j}^{\max\{0,\rho_{j}-\mu_{j}\}} \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}(\boldsymbol{\nu}))$$

lies in $\mathcal{E}_i(\boldsymbol{\nu})$ and hence is by assumption a degeneration of

$$W_i(oldsymbol{
u}) = W_i(oldsymbol{\mu}) \oplus igoplus_{j=1}^r T_j^{\max\{0,
ho_j-\mu_j\}}.$$

Therefore, X is a degeneration of $W_i(\boldsymbol{\mu})$ as we may 'cancel' the representation $\bigoplus_{j=1}^r T_j^{\max\{0,\rho_j-\mu_j\}}$ (see section 3.2).

There are two situations which play an important role in the proof of Theorem 3.4. The first situation is the case where T_i is simple and projective and the second is the case where Y_i is simple and injective. The proof of Theorem 3.4 in these situations is not very difficult and is presented in section 3.7.1. Furthermore, the proof of Theorem 3.4 is simpler in case Q is a Dynkin quiver and not an arbitrary tame quiver. We treat this case in section 3.7.2 and handle the general case in section 3.7.3.

3.7.1 Basic special cases

First, we prove Theorem 3.4 in case T_i is simple and projective:

Lemma 3.17. If T_i is simple and projective, then $U_i = T_i$ and $W_i = \mathcal{E}_i$.

Proof: If T_i is simple and projective, the trace $\operatorname{tr}_{T[\hat{i}]\oplus T_B} T_i$ is zero and hence $U_i = T_i$. Moreover, for $X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ we compute

$$\langle \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \mathbf{X}, \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \mathbf{U}_i \rangle = \langle \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \mathbf{T}, \operatorname{\mathbf{dim}} \mathbf{U}_i \rangle = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(T, U_i) - \dim \operatorname{Ext}(T, U_i) = \lambda_i$$

by Lemma 3.7 and hence dim $\operatorname{Hom}(X, U_i) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i) + \lambda_i$. Consequently, if X satisfies $\operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0$, then dim $\operatorname{Hom}(X, T_i) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Hom}(X, U_i) \geq \lambda_i + 1$. By assumption this is only possible if X contains $T_i^{\lambda_i+1}$ as a direct summand and hence X is in the closure of the orbit of W_i as $\operatorname{Ext}(Y_i \oplus R_i, Y_i \oplus R_i) = 0$ by Lemma 3.3.

Next, we prove Theorem 3.4 in case Y_i is simple and injective. Note that this is actually redundant if Q is a Dynkin quiver.

Lemma 3.18. If $Y_i = S(x)$ is simple and injective, then $U_i = \tau S(x)$ and $W_i = \mathcal{E}_i$.

Proof: The second statement follows directly from the first one: If $U_i = \tau S(x)$ then any representation $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ satisfying $\text{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0$ must contain S(x) as a direct summand and hence lies in the closure of the orbit of $S(x) \oplus T_i^{\lambda_i+1} \oplus R_i$, which is \mathcal{W}_i .

For the first statement it is enough to prove $\tau S(x) \in (T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)^{\perp}$ according to Lemma 3.7. This is equivalent to $S(x) \in {}^{\perp}(T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B)$ by the Auslander-Reiten formulae. By definition of Y_i we have $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T_i) \neq 0$ and hence S(x) is not a direct summand of $T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B$, thus $\operatorname{Hom}(S(x), T[\hat{i}] \oplus T_B) = 0$. Moreover, $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T[\hat{i}]) = 0$ according to Lemma 3.3. In order to prove $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T_B) = 0$ let T_j be an indecomposable direct summand of T_B . Applying $\operatorname{Hom}(\cdot, T_j)$ to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+ \longrightarrow S(x) \longrightarrow 0$$

yields the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(T_i^+, T_j) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(T_i, T_j) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T_j) \longrightarrow 0.$$

We suppose $\operatorname{Hom}(T_i, T_j) \neq 0$ as otherwise clearly $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T_j) = 0$. The source map $T_j \longrightarrow T_j^{++}$ from T_j to add T is injective according to Lemma 3.2 ii) and we denote its cokernel by Z_j . Note that Z_j is indecomposable according to Lemma 3.3 (applied to the source map from T_j to add T). There is no non-zero map from T_j to T_i as $\operatorname{Hom}(T_i, T_j) \neq 0$ (see section 3.2), so $T_j^{++} \in \operatorname{add} T[\hat{i}]$ and hence $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T_j^{++}) = 0$. Mapping S(x) to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T_j \longrightarrow T_j^{++} \longrightarrow Z_j \longrightarrow 0$$

thus implies dim $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T_j) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(S(x), Z_j)$ and it remains to show $Z_j \neq S(x)$. This follows directly from the fact $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T_i) \neq 0$ as $\operatorname{Ext}(T \oplus Z_j, T \oplus Z_j) = 0$ according to Lemma 3.3.

3.7.2 The Dynkin case

In this section we assume Q is a Dynkin quiver, i.e. every connected component Γ of Q is of type \mathbb{A}_n , \mathbb{D}_n , \mathbb{E}_6 , \mathbb{E}_7 or \mathbb{E}_8 . Recall from section 3.1 that any dimension vector $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ is prehomogeneous in this case. Moreover, any multiplicity vector $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \in \mathbb{N}^r$ is admissible as explained in section 3.2. Therefore, our goal is to prove the following Theorem:

Theorem 3.19. Let Q be a Dynkin quiver, $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ any sincere dimension vector and $\operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ the open orbit in Rep (Q, \mathbf{d}) . If T_i is essential as a submodule, then $\mathcal{W}_i = \mathcal{E}_i$.

The main idea of the proof is to use reflections at sinks to reach the situation where T_i is simple and projective and to make use of Lemma 3.17 afterwards. However, by using reflection functors the following problem occurs: A representation $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ may contain S(z) as a direct summand and thus $R_z^+ X$ does not necessarily lie in $\text{Rep}(zQ, r_z(\mathbf{d}))$. Hence there is no use in just applying reflection functors to the set \mathcal{E}_i . The following Proposition allows us to solve this problem and may therefore be seen as the key point of the proof of the Theorem. Note that it is also the place we take advantage of the fact that the multiplicities may be chosen 'large enough'. In fact, we set

$$\rho(Q) := \max \left\{ \rho(\Gamma) \colon \Gamma \text{ is a connected component of } Q \right\}$$

and

$$\rho(\Gamma) := \begin{cases}
1, & \text{if } \Gamma \text{ is of type } A_n, \\
2, & \text{if } \Gamma \text{ is of type } D_n, \\
3, & \text{if } \Gamma \text{ is of type } E_6, \\
4, & \text{if } \Gamma \text{ is of type } E_7, \\
6, & \text{if } \Gamma \text{ is of type } E_8.
\end{cases}$$

Note that actually $\rho(Q) = \max \{\dim \operatorname{Ext}(A, B) : A, B \text{ indecomposable representations of } Q\}.$

For a sink $z \in Q_0$ and an indecomposable representation $M \neq S(z)$ we denote by $\Delta_M(z)$ the value

$$\Delta_M(z) := \sum_{j=1}^s \dim M(y_j) - \dim M(z) = \dim \operatorname{Ext}(M, S(z)) \ge 0.$$

Proposition 3.20. Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink of Q such that $\Delta(z) > 0$. Assume $\lambda_j \ge \rho(Q)$ for $j = 1, \ldots, r$ and let $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, d)$ satisfy $\text{Ext}(X, U_i) \ne 0$. Then there exists a representation $Y \in \text{Rep}(Q, d)$ such that X is a degeneration of Y, the representation S(z) is not a direct summand of Y and $\text{Ext}(Y, U_i) \ne 0$.

Proof: By assumption the representation X has an indecomposable direct summand $V \neq S(z)$ such that $\operatorname{Ext}(V, U_i) \neq 0$. We set $Y := V \oplus Y_1$, where the orbit of Y_1 is open in $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d} - \dim \mathbf{V})$. Clearly, this implies $Y \leq_{\operatorname{deg}} X$ and $\operatorname{Ext}(Y, U_i) \neq 0$ and it remains to show that S(z) is not a direct

summand of Y. According to Remark 3.5 it is enough to prove that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{s} \dim Y_1(y_j) - \dim Y_1(z) = \Delta(z) - \Delta_V(z)$$

is non-negative. The value of $\Delta(z)$ may be computed as $\Delta(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{r} \lambda_j \cdot \Delta_{T_j}(z)$ and since $\Delta(z)$ is positive, there is an indecomposable direct summand T_k of T such that $\Delta_{T_k}(z) > 0$. This implies $\Delta(z) \geq \lambda_k \cdot \Delta_{T_k}(z) \geq \rho(Q) \geq \Delta_V(z)$ by definition of $\rho(Q)$ and the assumption on the multiplicities.

Recall from section 3.5.1 the definition of the representations W_i^+ and U_i^+ and denote by W_i^+ and \mathcal{E}_i^+ the sets $\mathcal{W}_i^+ := \overline{\operatorname{GL}(r_z(\mathbf{d})) \cdot W_i^+}$ and $\mathcal{E}_i^+ := \{X^+ \in \operatorname{Rep}(zQ, r_z(\mathbf{d})) : \operatorname{Ext}(X^+, U_i^+) \neq 0\}$, respectively. The following Corollary shows the importance of the preceding Proposition:

Corollary 3.21. Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink such that $\Delta(z) > 0$ and assume $\lambda_j \ge \rho(Q)$ for $j = 1, \ldots, r$. If $\mathcal{W}_i^+ = \mathcal{E}_i^+$, then $\mathcal{W}_i = \mathcal{E}_i$.

Proof: Let $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ satisfy $\text{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0$. According to Proposition 3.20 we may suppose w.l.o.g S(z) is not a direct summand of X. As dim $\text{Ext}(R_z^+X, R_z^+U_i) \neq 0$ this implies $R_z^+X \in \mathcal{W}_i^+$ by Lemma 3.9 and the assumption. Since the partial orders \leq_{deg} and \leq_{hom} coincide (see section 3.2) it is enough to prove $W_i \leq_{\text{hom}} X$. Obviously dim $\text{Hom}(S(z), W_i) = d_z = \dim \text{Hom}(S(z), X)$. Moreover, $R_z^+W_i \leq_{\text{deg}} R_z^+X$ by Lemma 3.9 and thus $R_z^+W_i \leq_{\text{hom}} R_z^+X$, which implies

 $\dim \operatorname{Hom}(M, W_i) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(R_z^+ M, R_z^+ W_i) \le \dim \operatorname{Hom}(R_z^+ M, R_z^+ X) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(M, X)$

for any indecomposable representation $M \neq S(z)$.

The proof is done by induction on n, the number of vertices of Q. In case n = 2 the only representation which may possibly occur as an indecomposable direct summand of T which is essential as a submodule is simple and projective. We have seen in Lemma 3.17 that the claim holds true in this case and therefore we may suppose $n \ge 3$. Moreover, we may assume w.l.o.g. $\lambda_j \ge \rho(Q)$ for $j = 1, \ldots, r$ according to Lemma 3.16. Note that these inequalities are preserved under reflections at sinks satisfying $\Delta(z) > 0$. Since Q is a Dynkin quiver it is possible to choose a finite sequence of $t \ge 0$ vertices (where z_j is a sink in $z_{j-1} \cdots z_1 Q$ for $j = 1, \ldots, t$) such that $R_{z_t}^+ \circ \ldots \circ R_{z_1}^+ T_i$ is simple and projective in $z_t \ldots z_1 Q$. Applying Corollary 3.21 as long as $\Delta_{z_{j-1} \cdots z_1 Q}(z_j) > 0$ we may thus assume w.l.o.g. that either T_i is simple and projective or $\Delta(z_1) \le 0$. Therefore, the assertion follows using either Lemma 3.17 or Proposition 3.13 and the induction hypothesis.

3.7.3 The general case

We return to the general case where Q is any tame quiver and $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{N}^n$ any prehomogeneous dimension vector such that T_i^+ is a direct summand of T.

Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink of Q such that $\Delta(z) > 0$. As in the Dynkin case we aim to prove that for a representation $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ satisfying $\text{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0$ there exists a representation $Y \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ such that X is a degeneration of Y, the representation S(z) is not a direct summand of Y and $\operatorname{Ext}(Y, U_i) \neq 0$. The following Lemma shows this is true provided $\Delta(z)$ is 'large enough'. Recall that we have $\Delta_M(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \dim M(y_i) - \dim M(z) = \dim \operatorname{Ext}(M, S(z)) > 0$ for an indecom-

Recall that we have $\Delta_M(z) = \sum_{j=1}^s \dim M(y_j) - \dim M(z) = \dim \operatorname{Ext}(M, S(z)) \ge 0$ for an indecomposable representation $M \neq S(z)$.

Lemma 3.22. Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink of Q and let V be an indecomposable direct summand of $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ such that $\text{Ext}(V, U_i) \neq 0$ and $\Delta(z) \geq \Delta_V(z)$. Then there exists a representation $Y \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ such that X is a degeneration of Y, the representation S(z) is not a direct summand of Y and $\text{Ext}(Y, U_i) \neq 0$.

Proof: The proof will be done by induction on ν , where $X = V \oplus S(z)^{\nu} \oplus X_1$ such that S(z) is not a direct summand of X_1 . In case $\nu = 0$ there is nothing to show. If ν is positive a short computation yields

$$\dim \operatorname{Ext}(X_1, S(z)) = -\langle \dim X_1, \mathbf{e}_z \rangle = \Delta(z) + \nu - \Delta_V(z) \ge \nu > 0.$$

Hence there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow S(z) \longrightarrow \tilde{X}_1 \longrightarrow X_1 \longrightarrow 0$$

which does not split and thus X is a degeneration of $V \oplus S(z)^{\nu-1} \oplus \tilde{X}_1$. Since S(z) is not a direct summand of \tilde{X}_1 we are done by the induction hypothesis.

In the Dynkin case we achieved to satisfy the condition $\Delta(z) \geq \Delta_V(z)$ by choosing the multiplicities λ_j 'large enough', namely $\lambda_j \geq \rho(Q)$ (see section 3.7.2). In the present case where Qis any tame quiver it is still possible to satisfy the condition by choosing the multiplicities 'large enough'. However, the 'required multiplicities' now depend on X (more precisely, on the chosen indecomposable direct summand V satisfying $\text{Ext}(V, U_i) \neq 0$) and not just on the types of the connected components of the quiver.

Let us fix an indecomposable direct summand T_k of T such that $\Delta_{T_k}(z) > 0$. Note that this is possible since $0 < \Delta(z) = \sum_{j=1}^r \lambda_j \cdot \Delta_{T_j}(z)$. Clearly, for a chosen representation V we may satisfy the condition $\Delta(z) \ge \Delta_V(z)$ by increasing λ_k .

The following Corollary is an adapted version of Corollary 3.21. Note that we need a stronger premise since the increase of the multiplicities depends on X.

Corollary 3.23. Let $z \in Q_0$ be a sink of Q such that $\Delta(z) > 0$. If $\mathcal{W}_i^+(r_z(\boldsymbol{\mu})) = \mathcal{E}_i^+(r_z(\boldsymbol{\mu}))$ for all $\boldsymbol{\mu} \geq \boldsymbol{\lambda}$, then $\mathcal{W}_i = \mathcal{E}_i$.

Proof: Let $X \in \text{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ satisfy $\text{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0$ and choose an indecomposable direct summand V of X such that $\text{Ext}(V, U_i) \neq 0$. Moreover, choose $\eta \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that

$$(\eta + \lambda_k) \cdot \Delta_{T_k}(z) \ge \Delta_V(z)$$

and consider the representation space $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}(\boldsymbol{\mu}))$, where $\mu_k = \lambda_k + \eta$ and $\mu_j = \lambda_j$ for $j \neq k$.

Since

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{d}(\boldsymbol{\mu})}(z) = \Delta_{\mathbf{d}}(z) + \eta \cdot \Delta_{T_k}(z) > 0$$

there is a representation $Y(\boldsymbol{\mu}) \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}(\boldsymbol{\mu}))$ such that $X(\boldsymbol{\mu}) := X \oplus T_k^{\eta}$ is a degeneration of $Y(\boldsymbol{\mu})$, $\operatorname{Ext}(Y(\boldsymbol{\mu}), U_i) \neq 0$ and S(z) is not a direct summand of $Y(\boldsymbol{\mu})$ by Lemma 3.22. Our goal is to show that $Y(\boldsymbol{\mu})$ is a degeneration of $W_i(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = W_i \oplus T_k^{\eta}$ since then also $W_i(\boldsymbol{\mu}) \leq_{\operatorname{deg}} X(\boldsymbol{\mu})$ and hence $W_i \leq_{\operatorname{deg}} X$ by 'cancellation' of T_k^{η} (see section 3.2). In order to prove this it is enough to show $W_i(\boldsymbol{\mu}) \leq_{\operatorname{hom}} Y(\boldsymbol{\mu})$ as the partial orders $\leq_{\operatorname{deg}}$ and $\leq_{\operatorname{hom}}$ coincide (see section 3.2). Obviously dim $\operatorname{Hom}(S(z), W_i(\boldsymbol{\mu})) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(S(z), Y(\boldsymbol{\mu}))$. Moreover, applying R_z^+ and using the assumption of the Lemma implies $R_z^+ W_i(\boldsymbol{\mu}) \leq_{\operatorname{deg}} R_z^+ Y(\boldsymbol{\mu})$ and hence $R_z^+ W_i(\boldsymbol{\mu}) \leq_{\operatorname{hom}} R_z^+ Y(\boldsymbol{\mu})$. Therefore,

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(M, W_i(\boldsymbol{\mu})) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(R_z^+ M, R_z^+ W_i(\boldsymbol{\mu}))$$
$$\leq \dim \operatorname{Hom}(R_z^+ M, R_z^+ Y(\boldsymbol{\mu})) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(M, Y(\boldsymbol{\mu}))$$

for any indecomposable representation $M \neq S(z)$.

Since Q is not necessarily a Dynkin quiver, T_i is not necessarily preprojective, i.e. there is not necessarily a sequence of $t \ge 0$ vertices (where z_j is a sink in $z_{j-1} \cdots z_1 Q$ for $j = 1, \ldots, t$) such that $R_{z_t}^+ \circ \ldots \circ R_{z_1}^+ T_i$ is simple and projective in $z_t \ldots z_1 Q$. This means we need to extend the proof strategy. The most obvious thing is to consider also reflections at sources and to ensure this leads to a situation where we are able to prove Theorem 3.4 directly. Indeed, we have seen in Lemma 3.18 that the Theorem holds true in case Y_i is simple and injective. In this sense, Lemma 3.18 is the analogue of Lemma 3.17 and the following Proposition is the analogue of Proposition 3.20 and Lemma 3.22, respectively.

Proposition 3.24. Let $x \in Q_0$ be a source such that $\Delta(x) > 0$ and assume $Y_i \neq S(x)$ and $\lambda_j \geq \dim T_j(x) + 1$ for j = 1, ..., r. Moreover, let $X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, d)$ satisfy $\operatorname{Ext}(X, U_i) \neq 0$. Then there exists a representation $Y \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, d)$ such that X is a degeneration of Y, the representation S(x) is not a direct summand of Y and $\operatorname{Ext}(Y, U_i) \neq 0$.

Proof: By assumption the representation X has an indecomposable direct summand V such that $Ext(V, U_i) \neq 0$. The proof will be done by induction on dim Ext(S(x), V).

Base case: Ext(S(x), V) = 0

We first consider the case $V \neq S(x)$. Decomposing $X = V \oplus S(x)^{\nu} \oplus X_1$ such that S(x) is not a direct summand of X_1 we may suppose $\nu > 0$ as otherwise we are done. A short computation using Ext(S(x), V) = 0 yields

$$\dim \operatorname{Ext}(S(x), X_1) = -\langle \mathbf{e_x}, \dim \mathbf{X_1} \rangle = \Delta(x) + \nu > 0$$

and hence there is an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow X_1 \longrightarrow \tilde{X}_1 \longrightarrow S(x) \longrightarrow 0$$

which does not split. Therefore, X is in the closure of the orbit of $V \oplus S(x)^{\nu-1} \oplus \tilde{X}_1$ and since S(x) is not a direct summand of \tilde{X}_1 we are done by induction on ν in this case.

We continue with the case V = S(x). The sink map $T^- \longrightarrow S(x)$ from add T to S(x) is surjective and we denote its kernel by T''. Note that T'' does not contain S(x) as a direct summand. By the assumption $\lambda_j > \dim T_j(x) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(T_j, S(x))$ for $j = 1, \ldots, r$ we may decompose T as $T = T^- \oplus \bigoplus_{j=1}^r T_j \oplus T_R$. We claim $T'' \oplus \bigoplus_{j=1}^r T_j \oplus T_R$ has an open orbit in $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d} - \mathbf{e_x})$ and prove this by checking $\operatorname{Ext}(T \oplus T'', T \oplus T'') = 0$. Applying $\operatorname{Hom}(\cdot, T)$ and $\operatorname{Hom}(T, \cdot)$ to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T'' \longrightarrow T^{-} \longrightarrow S(x) \longrightarrow 0$$

yields Ext(T'', T) = 0 and that the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(T,T'') \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(T,T^-) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(T,S(x)) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(T,T'') \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact, respectively. The induced map $\operatorname{Hom}(T, T^-) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(T, S(x))$ is surjective by definition of the sink map and hence $\operatorname{Ext}(T, T'') = 0$. By applying $\operatorname{Hom}(\cdot, T'')$ to the exact sequence above this implies $\operatorname{Ext}(T'', T'') = 0$ and therefore $\operatorname{Ext}(T \oplus T'', T \oplus T'') = 0$.

Consequently, it is enough to prove there is an indecomposable direct summand $T_l \neq T_i$ such that $\text{Ext}(S(x), T_l) \neq 0$. Indeed, if

$$0 \longrightarrow T_l \longrightarrow \tilde{T}_l \longrightarrow S(x) \longrightarrow 0$$

is an exact sequence which does not split, applying $\operatorname{Hom}(\cdot, U_i)$ to this sequence and using $U_i \in T[\hat{i}]^{\perp}$ yields dim $\operatorname{Ext}(\tilde{T}_l, U_i) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ext}(S(x), U_i) \neq 0$ and hence the representation

$$Y := \tilde{T}_l \oplus \bigoplus_{j \neq l} T_j \oplus T_R \oplus T''$$

has the required properties.

In order to prove the statement above note $\text{Ext}(S(x), T_i) \neq 0$ as U_i is a quotient of T_i and $\text{Ext}(S(x), U_i) \neq 0$. Mapping S(x) to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T_i \longrightarrow T_i^+ \longrightarrow Y_i \longrightarrow 0$$

this implies $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T_i^+) \neq 0$ because $\operatorname{Hom}(S(x), Y_i) = 0$ as $Y_i \neq S(x)$ by assumption. Since T_i^+ is a direct summand of T there is thus an indecomposable direct summand $T_l \neq T_i$ of T such that $\operatorname{Ext}(S(x), T_l) \neq 0$.

Inductive step: $Ext(S(x), V) \neq 0$

We suppose S(x) is a direct summand of X as otherwise we are done. Let

$$0 \longrightarrow V \longrightarrow \tilde{V} \longrightarrow S(x) \longrightarrow 0$$

be any exact sequence which does not split. Since $\operatorname{Ext}(V, U_i) \neq 0$ we may write $\tilde{V} = V_1 \oplus R_1$ where V_1 is an indecomposable representation such that $\operatorname{Ext}(V_1, U_i) \neq 0$. Mapping S(x) to the exact sequence above yields the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(S(x), S(x)) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(S(x), V) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(S(x), \tilde{V}) \longrightarrow 0$$

and thus

$$\dim \operatorname{Ext}(S(x), V_1) \leq \dim \operatorname{Ext}(S(x), \tilde{V}) = \dim \operatorname{Ext}(S(x), V) - 1 < \dim \operatorname{Ext}(S(x), V).$$

Decomposing $X = V \oplus S(x) \oplus X_1$ implies X is in the closure of the orbit of $V_1 \oplus R_1 \oplus X_1$ and we are done by the induction hypothesis.

Recall from section 3.5.2 the definition of the representations W_i^- and U_i^- and denote by \mathcal{W}_i^- and \mathcal{E}_i^- the sets $\mathcal{W}_i^- := \overline{\operatorname{GL}(r_x(\mathbf{d})) \cdot W_i^-}$ and $\mathcal{E}_i^- := \{X^- \in \operatorname{Rep}(Qx, r_x(\mathbf{d})) : \operatorname{Ext}(X^-, U_i^-) \neq 0\}$, respectively. The preceding Proposition allows us to prove the analogue of Corollary 3.21.

Corollary 3.25. Let $x \in Q_0$ be a source such that $\Delta(x) > 0$ and assume $Y_i \neq S(x)$ and

$$\lambda_j \geq \dim T_j(x) + 1$$
 for $j = 1, \ldots, r$.

If $\mathcal{W}_i^- = \mathcal{E}_i^-$, then $\mathcal{W}_i = \mathcal{E}_i$.

Proof: Replacing Lemma 3.9 by Lemma 3.10, the proof is analogous to the proof of Corollary 3.21.

Proof of Theorem 3.1:

We may assume w.l.o.g. that Q is connected. In particular, for any vertex $y \in Q_0$ the Theorem is proved for the quiver $Q[\hat{y}]$ since this is a Dynkin quiver. As in the proof of Theorem 3.19 the idea of the proof is to apply reflection functors until we reach a situation where we are able either to prove the statement directly or to use the fact that the statement is true for the quiver obtained by deleting a vertex.

We distinguish the two cases whether or not T contains a preinjective direct summand and consider first the case where there is an indecomposable direct summand T_m which is preinjective. In this case it is possible to choose a finite sequence of $t \ge 0$ vertices (where x_l is a source in $Qx_1 \cdots x_{l-1}$ for $l = 1, \ldots, t$) such that $R_{x_t}^- \circ \ldots \circ R_{x_1}^- T_m$ is simple and injective in $Qx_1 \ldots x_t$. According to Lemma 3.16 we may assume w.l.o.g. $\lambda_j \ge \rho_j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, r$, where

$$\rho_j := \max_{1 \le l \le t} \left\{ \dim R^-_{x_{l-1}} \circ \ldots \circ R^-_{x_1} T_j(x_l) \right\} + 1, \qquad j = 1, \ldots, r.$$

In view of Corollary 3.25 we may thus assume w.l.o.g. that either T_m is simple and injective or $\Delta(x_1) \leq 0$ or $Y_i = S(x_1)$. Note that the first case implies $T_m = S(x)$ for some source x and hence $\Delta(x) < 0$ (see section 3.2). Therefore, the assertion follows using either Proposition 3.15 and Theorem 3.19 or Lemma 3.18.

We continue with the remaining case where T has no preinjective direct summand. As the source map from any indecomposable direct summand of T_B to add T is injective according to Lemma 3.2 ii) this implies there is no preinjective direct summand of T_B either since there is no nonzero homomorphism from a preinjective to a non-preinjective representation (see section 3.2). Hence the representation $T \oplus T_B$ must contain an indecomposable direct summand T_m which is preprojective as there is no regular tilting module (see section 3.2). Therefore, it is possible to choose a finite sequence of $t \ge 0$ vertices (where z_l is a sink in $z_{l-1} \cdots z_1 Q$ for $l = 1, \ldots, t$) such that the representation $R_{z_t}^+ \circ \ldots \circ R_{z_1}^+ T_m$ is simple and projective in $z_t \ldots z_1 Q$. In view of Corollary 3.23 we may thus assume w.l.o.g. that either T_m is simple and projective or $\Delta(z_1) \le 0$. In the latter case the assertion follows either from Lemma 3.17 (if $T_i = S(z_1)$) or from Proposition 3.13 and Theorem 3.19 (if $T_i \ne S(z_1)$). In case T_m is simple and projective, T_m equals S(z) for some sink z of Q. We suppose $T_m \ne T_i$, as otherwise Lemma 3.17 finishes the proof. If T_m is a direct summand of T, then $\Delta(z) < 0$ according to Remark 3.5 and if T_m is a direct summand of T_B , then $\Delta(z) = 0$ according to Remark 3.6. Therefore, Proposition 3.13 and Theorem 3.19 end the proof.

4 Example

Let k be an algebraically closed field, let Q be the quiver



and let $\mathbf{d} = (4, 5, 4, 2)$. Recall that \mathbf{d} is prehomogeneous since Q is a Dynkin quiver. Identifying each indecomposable representation of Q with its dimension vector the Auslander-Reiten quiver of Q is given by



where we marked in red the representations

$$T_1 := 1 \stackrel{1}{_{0}}, \quad T_2 := 1 \stackrel{2}{_{1}} \quad \text{and} \quad T_3 := 1 \stackrel{1}{_{1}}.$$

The orbit of $T := T_1^2 \oplus T_2 \oplus T_3$ is the open orbit of $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d})$ since $\operatorname{Ext}(T, T) = 0$. As Q is a Dynkin quiver T is stable. Note that T_1 is essential as a submodule and T_3 is essential as a quotient, respectively. In order to compute the Bongartz completion T_B and the dual Bongartz completion T_{DB} we notice that there are only two representations M_1 and M_2 such that $T \oplus M_i$ is a tilting module, namely

$$M_1 := 1 \stackrel{0}{_1}$$
 and $M_2 := 0 \stackrel{1}{_0}$.

Since there is no non-zero map from T to M_1 the sink map from add T to M_1 is injective and hence M_1 is the Bongartz completion of T. Analogously, M_2 is the dual Bongartz completion of T. Recall that U_1 and V_3 are the unique indecomposable representations in $(T \oplus T_B)^{\perp}$ and ${}^{\perp}(T \oplus T_{DB})$, respectively. Consequently, the representations U_1 and V_3 yield $U_1 = T_1$ and $V_3 = T_3$. Moreover, there is only one indecomposable representation in T^{\perp} , namely $S_4 := M_1$. Therefore, the complement $\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) \setminus \operatorname{GL}(\mathbf{d}) \cdot T$ is the union of the three irreducible components

$$\mathcal{C}_1 = \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{Ext}(X, U_1) \neq 0 \},\$$
$$\mathcal{C}_3 = \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{Ext}(V_3, X) \neq 0 \},\$$
$$\mathcal{D}_4 = \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{Ext}(X, S_4) \neq 0 \}\$$
$$= \{ X \in \operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathbf{d}) : \operatorname{Hom}(X, S_4) \neq 0 \},\$$

which are of codimension 3, 2 and 1, respectively.

References

- Assem, I., Skowronski, A., and Simson, D. (2006). Elements of the Representation Theory of Associative Algebras, volume 1. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge Books Online.
- [2] Auslander, M. and Reiten, I. (1975). Representation theory of artin algebras iii. Communications in Algebra, 3(3):239–294.
- [3] Auslander, M. and Reiten, I. (1985). Modules determined by their composition factors. *Illinois* J. Math., 29(2):280–301.
- [4] Baur, K. and Hille, L. (2014). On the complement of the dense orbit for a quiver of type A. Communications in Algebra, 42(7):2871–2889.
- [5] Bongartz, K. (1981). Tilted algebras. In *Representations of Algebras*, volume 903 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*, pages 26–38.
- [6] Bongartz, K. (1995). Degenerations for representations of tame quivers. Annales scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure, 28(5):647–668.
- Bongartz, K. (1996). On degenerations and extensions of finite dimensional modules. Advances in Mathematics, 121(2):245-287.
- [8] Gabriel, P. (1972). Unzerlegbare darstellungen i. Manuscripta mathematica, 6:71–104.
- [9] Gabriel, P. (1975). Représentations indécomposables. In Séminaire Bourbaki vol. 1973/74 Exposés 436-452, volume 431 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 143-169. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [10] Happel, D. and Ringel, C. M. (1982). Tilted algebras. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 274:399–443.
- [11] Riedtmann, C. (1986). Degenerations for representations of quivers with relations. Annales scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure, 19(2):275–301.
- [12] Riedtmann, C. and Schofield, A. (1990). On open orbits and their complements. Journal of Algebra, 130(2):388–411.
- [13] Riedtmann, C. and Schofield, A. (1991). On a simplicial complex associated with tilting modules. *Commentarii Mathematici Helvetici*, 66(1):70–78.
- [14] Ringel, C. M. (1980). The rational invariants of the tame quivers. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 58(3):217–239.

- [15] Schofield, A. (1991). Semi-invariants of quivers. Journal of the London Mathematical Society, s2-43(3):385-395.
- [16] Simson, D. and Skowronski, A. (2007a). Elements of the Representation Theory of Associative Algebras, volume 2. Cambridge University Press.
- [17] Simson, D. and Skowronski, A. (2007b). Elements of the Representation Theory of Associative Algebras, volume 3. Cambridge University Press.

Erklärung

gemäss Art. 28 Abs. 2 RSL 05

| Name/Vorname: | Michel Andrea Daniela | |
|----------------------|---|--|
| Matrikelnummer: | 06-113-872 | |
| Studiengang: | Mathematik, Dissertation | |
| Titel der Arbeit: | The complement of the open orbit for tame quivers | |
| Leiterin der Arbeit: | Prof. Dr. Ch. Riedtmann | |

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich diese Arbeit selbständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen benutzt habe. Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder sinngemäss aus Quellen entnommen wurden, habe ich als solche gekennzeichnet. Mir ist bekannt, dass andernfalls der Senat gemäss Artikel 36 Absatz 1 Buchstabe r des Gesetzes vom 5. September 1996 über die Universität zum Entzug des auf Grund dieser Arbeit verliehenen Titels berechtigt ist. Ich gewähre hiermit Einsicht in diese Arbeit.

Bern, 10.09.2016

Andrea Michel

Curriculum Vitae

Personal data

| First name | Andrea Daniela |
|---------------|----------------|
| Family name | Michel |
| Date of birth | 31.3.1988 |
| Home town | Bönigen BE |
| Nationality | Swiss |

Education

| 2012 - 2016 | PhD Studies in Mathematics at the University of Bern |
|-------------|--|
| | Advisor: Prof. Dr. Christine Riedtmann |
| 2010 - 2012 | Master Studies in Mathematics at the University of Bern |
| 2006 - 2010 | Bachelor Studies in Mathematics (Major) and Physics (Mi- |
| | nor) at the University of Bern |
| 2003 - 2006 | Gymnasium Interlaken |
| | |

Employment

| 2012 - 2016 | Assistant at the Mathematical Institute, University of Bern |
|-------------|---|
| 2008 - 2012 | Student assistant at the Mathematical Institute, University |
| | of Bern |